# FOCUS

#### Vol. XXVIII No. 2 2014 INSTITUTE OF REGIONAL STUDIES, ISLAMABAD www.irs.org.pk

# CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Peace	2
Reconciliation and reintegration	3
The central negotiators	3
The Afghan Taliban	4
The Afghan Government	8
Turning point in Afghan strategy	8
Peace process: Karzai vs Taliban	15
The influential negotiators	19
The United States	20
Pakistan	28
Pakistan's challenges & interests	28
Peace initiatives to date with different facilitators	35
Saudi initiatives	35
Turkey's mediation	37
Diplomatic initiatives:	
Afghanistan-Turkey-Pakistan	38
Maldives talks	39
Qatar — Taliban's choice	40
Doha office	40
Interests	41
Talks	42
Peace process at present	43
Conclusion	46
Notes and References	51

# **QUEST FOR PEACE IN AFGHANISTAN**

HUMERA IQBAL

I still cannot understand how we, the international community, and the Afghan Government have managed to arrive at a situation in which everything is coming together in 2014 — elections, new President, economic transition, military transition and all this — whereas the negotiations for the peace process have not really started. — Former French diplomat Bernard Bajolet, Kabul, April 2013.<sup>(1)</sup>

Introduction

After more than three decades of war, Afghanistan today remains a very complex society, struggling within an unstable political and security landscape. Several years of fighting and anarchy has left it fragmented and deeply factionalized. On the one hand there is the conflicting relationship between the Afghan Government and people with allied countries; and on the other, combating insurgents have paved the way for social and economic breakdown of the society. At each level various groups and factions are locked in deep-rooted, multifaceted conflicts, mostly striving for capturing a share of power or resources. The outcome is massive collateral damage and a high rate of warfare misconduct. Consequently, concrete and sustainable development, the most desired element of the Afghan peace process, seems lost, even within the much touted "2014 Withdrawal" policy. Certain ambiguities regarding the 2014 handing over, and the transitional phase with future security forces, pose formidable challenges. Most of the

Humera Iqbal is an Assistant Research Officer at the Institute of Regional Studies.

post-2014 projections are pessimistic, and raise serious concerns, such as insurgents recapturing power, societal breakdown and re-ignition of civil war. However, the unwavering determination and perseverance of the Afghan people, especially the youth, is seen as a glimmer of hope.

This study presents a chronology of various efforts made over the last decade in hopes of achieving peace, and analyses the efforts currently being made. It attempts to give insight into President Karzai's policy of Peace and Reconciliation, explores the dynamics of central and influential stakeholders, and identifies the role played by various members of the international community, especially Pakistan.

#### Peace

The terms "peace process" or "peacebuilding" have been used broadly since the early 90s. The concept of post-conflict peacebuilding is generally defined as "action to identify and support structures which tend to strengthen and solidify peace in order to avoid relapse into conflict."<sup>(2)</sup> Peacebuilding involves a wide range of approaches, processes and stages involved in transformation towards more sustainable and peaceful relationships, governance modes and structures.<sup>(3)</sup> The peace process can be seen as "the diplomatic and political efforts to negotiate a resolution to a conflict, especially a long-standing conflict." Harold Saunders described peace process as "a political process in which conflicts are resolved by peaceful means. They are a mixture of politics, diplomacy, changing relationships, negotiation, mediation, and dialogue in both official and unofficial arenas."<sup>(4)</sup> In this regard an effective peace mechanism and negotiations are desirable and worth pursuing despite the risks and fears of failure attached with the process.

An unfortunate reason for the stalling and slow-pace of the peace process was the mismanaged US policy that gave an opportunity to the ousted Taliban to regain a solid foothold in the country. Now, an important task for the policymakers is to identify a peace model or method of peaceful negotiations which focuses on greater peacebuilding in Afghanistan. This will shift the focus from individual to national level and from personal to the political sphere. The culture of war has to be replaced by a culture of

peace. A consensus-oriented mechanism needs to be formed for this purpose, to help pave way for a form of "national reconciliation." A two-way peace and reconciliation approach is a must, at national and regional levels.

# **Reconciliation and reintegration**

Kriesberg defines reconciliation as the "process of developing a mutual conciliatory accommodation between antagonistic or formerly antagonistic persons or groups. It often refers to a relatively amicable relationship, typically established after a rupture in the relationship involving one-sided or mutual infliction of extreme injury."<sup>(5)</sup> The concept of reintegration has been viewed narrowly by both practical and theoretical thinkers who traditionally focus on economic and social assimilation into civilian life as the goal of reintegration. Acknowledgement of the importance of political assimilation of ex-combatants was missing. Hence, it was proposed that reintegration should cover three aspects. First, the target group should be ex-combatants and their families. Second, the aim of the reintegration process should be their economic, political and social assimilation into civil society. Finally, the method should be broad enough to include different forms of reintegration other than programmes and projects organized by international donors. Following this, reintegration is seen as "a societal process aiming at the economic, political, and social assimilation of ex-combatants and their families into civil society."<sup>(6)</sup>

#### The central negotiators

The two key actors central to Afghan peace negotiations are the Afghan Taliban and the Afghanistan Government.

## The Afghan Taliban

## Identity

For the past few years there has been talk of 'good' or 'moderate' Taliban with whom the international community and domestic opponents have been willing to reach an agreement. However, the question is, do moderate Taliban actually exist? And if yes, who are these Taliban? Are they the same old traditionalists remerging after defeat? Or, are they new resistance groups, operating under the banner of Taliban? Between 2001 and 2007, 'moderates' and 'extremists' were indistinguishable politically and legally. In American political discourse the term 'moderate' meant 'good' and applied to those who assented to American policies while those who did not, were termed 'bad' or 'radicals.'<sup>(7)</sup>

The 'moderate Taliban' category gave an identity to constituencies within Taliban who sought to build a state. Their ambition depended on foreign helpers who did not share their ideology. Such claims of moderation became the calling cards for hopeful intermediaries and they formed a framework for negotiations with the international community.<sup>(8)</sup>

The labels of Taliban and *neo-Taliban* have lately been used to define the movement. A new style of violence, more aggressive in nature, has emerged on the surface. The two groups, the original Taliban movement and the neo-Taliban, share one principle despite having several differences. Both base the legitimacy of their cause in the enforcement of *Sharia* as the divine law in Afghanistan.<sup>(9)</sup> The term neo-Taliban is recognized to encompass the former and current agendas, players, and engagement strategies.<sup>(10)</sup> The neo-Taliban can be divided ideologically into two groups. The first one aligns itself with Al-Qaeda and follows views adopted by Mullah Omar and radical Taliban. Whereas the other group seems to have opted for traditional Pashtun roots, trying to become a voice of not only the Pashtuns, but of all the traditionalist Muslims in Afghanistan. This category draws its support from a large number of alienated Pashtuns. It has gradually become more dominant by integrating foreign fighters into its ranks.<sup>(11)</sup>

Some within the neo-Taliban ranks are more moderate, seeking to become a voice in the political dialogue.<sup>(12)</sup> The neo-Taliban adopted a more flexible and less traditional attitude towards imported techniques and technologies from their Arab jihadist allied guests as a result of their influence. The orthodox style was radically shifted with the use of broader ways of documenting, interviewing and broadcasting their propaganda through video technology. The Neo-Taliban got deeply assimilated in the international jihadist movement after 2001. The internationalization of Taliban ideology reveals their strategies as it enabled strong external support to them, in particular financial support for

their mounting insurgency.<sup>(13)</sup> The resurgence of Taliban is believed to be multidimensional and based on an uncoordinated alliance of forces, such as crestfallen political personalities, factions based on centuries old rivalries, and foreign interests. Their financial support network, including drug lords and warlords, helps further their cause.<sup>(14)</sup>

#### Composition

Under the neo-Taliban banner, and in general, Taliban are not a cohesive entity. They are highly decentralized and disordered, horizontally and vertically at both the top and lower levels. Despite their loyalty to Mullah Omar's leadership and his *Shura*, Taliban are more of a factionalized movement, now further divided among the old and new bands. They have been able to become a challenging force due to the larger political and security vacuum created by the Karzai administration in the country, which allowed the Taliban to gain both strategic and operational leverage against their opponents.<sup>(15)</sup>

#### Insurgent groups

The Afghan Taliban ranks are primarily directed by the Quetta Shura Taliban, headed by Mullah Omar, who calls himself *Amir-ul-Momineen* (Leader of the Faithful). Mullah Omar and his group still continue to call themselves the legitimate government of Afghanistan, which they call the 'Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan'. The Shura's operations have systematically spread from Southern Afghanistan to the West and North of the country, and it is by far the most active volatile group in Afghanistan. Virtually, all enemy groups operating in the country have sworn allegiance to Mullah Omar.<sup>(16)</sup> Among the affiliated groups the most prominent and aggressive are the Haqqani and Mansur Networks. All these groups are being pursued by international and Afghan actors to join the peace accord.<sup>(17)</sup>

The Haqqani network headed by Sirajuddin Haqqani is one of Afghanistan's most experienced insurgent groups. Although the group also comes under the larger umbrella of the Quetta Shura, it maintains its own command and control and line of operations. The network has engaged in various violent attacks inside Afghanistan, and has been a straining factor in Pakistan-US relations. Lately the organization has been

intensely targeted by US drones that have succeeded in wiping off some of the top commanders.<sup>(18)</sup>

The other influential group is operating under the command of Abdul Latif Mansur and is an Afghanistan-based network, leading insurgency in the East of the country. Mansur had served as agriculture minister under the Taliban regime. Closely connected with the Haqqani network, his group is actively fighting the US forces, and is known to have thwarted the American hunt for Bin Laden and other Al-Qaeda leaders during Operation Anaconda in March 2002.<sup>(19)</sup>

#### A comeback

In 2007-09, the Taliban had regained the capacity to assassinate top government officials. By 2008 Taliban also altered their strategy of targeting people, and started targeting only those affiliated with the government, international forces and Afghan National Security forces. At the same time, the general public opinion also began to shift from favouring the government and foreigners' strategy, and they started to willingly or unwillingly support the insurgents and distanced themselves from the government, in order to keep their communities safe.<sup>(20)</sup>

## Basic positions & demands of the insurgents

The insurgent groups have a long list of demands to be met prior to any peace accord. The Taliban do not recognize the Afghan Constitution; do not recognize the Afghan Government as a legitimate one; they view the US and NATO as their primary enemies.<sup>(21)</sup> Their preconditions for peace talks are:

- Removal and no further presence of foreign military forces in Afghanistan, apart from temporary peacekeeping forces<sup>(22)</sup>
- To discuss only isolated issues such as prisoner exchanges and liaison office issues with the US and NATO since they are enemies<sup>(23)</sup>
- Security for insurgents and their families particularly in the South and Southeast of Afghanistan, from all the operating military forces, International Security Assistance Force, Afghan National Security Forces, and the Afghan National Security Directorate

- Recognition of Taliban as legitimate political actors in Afghanistan by the international community
- Removal of their key leaders from the United Nation's terrorists' list
- Enforcement of Islamic law in the country
- Removal of corrupt Afghan officials, like local commanders and government officials, exiling some of the most violent warlords, as identified by the Taliban<sup>(24)</sup>

The initially reluctant Haqqani network later showed willingness to participate in peace talks with the US, if Mullah Omar approved. But, at the same time, they asserted that they would still continue to attack the coalition forces in Afghanistan with the aim of establishing an Islamic state.<sup>(25)</sup>

Another noteworthy opposition group, the Hizb-e-Islami is led by Gulbuddin Hekmatyar. The Hizb showed a shift towards participating in peace talks and unlike the Taliban recognized the current Afghan Government as a legitimate negotiating party. However, it set its own preconditions for talks, including:

- Fundamental reforms in the electoral law
- Withdrawal of all foreign troops
- Constitutional reforms<sup>(26)</sup>

## The Afghan Government

The Afghanistan Government headed by President Hamid Karzai is dominated by the former Northern Alliance. The group's supporters are also positioned in top bureaucratic set-ups, including the Foreign Office, Afghan Police and Afghan National Army. The Alliance and President Karzai have faced criticism for encouraging an overrepresentation of ethnic minorities, primarily Uzbeks and Tajiks. The majority Pasthuns believe that they are not adequately represented at higher institutional levels. In the beginning, the new administration had a positive standing with the people, who appreciated its efforts in framing the Constitution, holding elections and leading the government setup. However, the Karzai administration soon began to lose support due to its inefficiency and allegations of corruption. This further enabled the Taliban to stage a gradual comeback starting with the rural areas and small towns, where the US and Karzai Government not only struggled to extend its jurisdiction<sup>(27)</sup> but also failed to win the hearts and minds of the people.

## **Turning point in Afghan strategy**

We are still not out of the darkness, not yet safe against threats; [...] we have yet not achieved our best desire of full security and individual safety for our citizens. The war on terror has not been won as per the desire of the people. The international community could not deliver on the purpose it came to take Afghanistan to its destination."

— President Karzai, addressing Traditional Loya Jirga, 16 November 2011.<sup>(28)</sup>

With US resources and attention diverted to Iraq and the resurgence of defeated and discredited Taliban in Afghanistan by 2005-06, delaying reconciliation efforts was a mistake that gave insurgents a chance to influence Afghan affairs.<sup>(29)</sup> Realizing the missing element in resolution of the national crisis and collateral damage from military strategy, President Karzai opened up to the possibility of devising a strategy around political negotiations with the Taliban. In 2009, in his inaugural speech, he outlined his policy priorities where peace and reconciliation was presented as key focus areas. He publicly invited the insurgents to voluntarily return and accept the Constitution of the country.<sup>(30)</sup>

## National Consultative Peace Jirga (NCPJ)

After setting the policy goal, Karzai began working on mobilizing public support for the peace and reconciliation programme. For this purpose a three-day National Consultative Peace Jirga (NCPJ) was convened, in Kabul in June 2010. The Jirga, a Pashtun tradition, is an assembly of influential leaders held to resolve disputes. The NCPJ was held to discuss prospects of peace negotiations and reconciliation with the Taliban.<sup>(31)</sup> A former president of Afghanistan and head of Jamiat-e-Islami, Burhanuddin Rabbani, acted as the Jirga Chairman. Around 1,600 delegates from 34 provinces, representing both government and civil society, participated in the jirga. The delegates included parliamentarians, cabinet members, representatives of different tribal and ethnic groups, as well as members of refugee communities, religious councils, ulema, civil society activists, women groups and others. However, the main political opposition bloc, Northern Front leader Abdullah Abdullah remained critical of the extent of true representation of Afghan society, and chose not to attend the Jirga.<sup>(32)</sup>

The legitimacy of the Jirga was also questioned by many others, as the participants were mainly Karzai supporters and Taliban opponents. The most crucial parties to peace negotiations — the Afghan Taliban, the Haqqani network, and Hezb-i-Islami of Hekmatyar — were not invited by Karzai.<sup>(33)</sup> For this, Karzai cannot be held completely responsible as at that time the Western supporters, particularly the US, discouraged any negotiations with the Taliban leadership, as they were confident about reversing the situation by gaining leverage over Taliban in the battlefield.<sup>(34)</sup> Karzai was in a challenging situation; on the one hand he was being asked to reach out to insurgents, and on the other he had to keep the US and other Western allies satisfied that he was not appeasing the terrorist factions. The Afghan public was also visibly sceptical of the peace plan, probably due to the failure of past peace efforts. In 2005, the Afghan Government, in coordination with the US military, had launched a programme 'Proceay-e Takheem-e Solha' (Strengthening Peace Programme, known as PTS), that sought to reintegrate former insurgents. The programme suffered from weak management, lack of resources and political will.<sup>(35)</sup> Another outreach effort was launched in Wardak and Helmand provinces in 2008. The Afghanistan Social Outreach Programme (ASOP) was actually not part of governance framework.<sup>(36)</sup> Likewise, many local initiatives were taken with tribal backing also to reintegrate groups or individuals from militias other than Taliban forces but these efforts had been uncoordinated and unstructured.<sup>(37)</sup>

#### Resolution document

The Consultative Jirga did manage to achieve an agreement on the primary goal of the event — to build a domestic consensus on the conditions under which direct negotiations between the Afghan Government and insurgent groups should take place.<sup>(38)</sup> The gathering adopted a 16-point resolution, outlining steps for the reconciliation and reintegration process. The resolution, divided into three sections, was further sub-divided

into individual articles: Understanding, Negotiation and Agreement for Sustainable Peace, Framework for Talks with the Disaffected, and Developing Mechanism for Negotiation with the Disaffected.<sup>(39)</sup>

The first section included seven articles that call on all parties for cooperating in the peace process by avoiding issues that can harm national unity and limit the reconciliation initiative. This section implied turning the outcomes of the Jirga into a national strategy. The second section appealed to the Afghan Government and international troops to release people whose detention was allegedly based on inaccurate information, and called for removing their names from the blacklist. It also sought security and safety guarantees for those willing to quit insurgency and for speedy training of Afghan National Security Forces to enable them to lead military operations. The third section outlined steps for establishing a High Peace Council to oversee the implementations of the Jirga's resolutions at district and provincial levels. A special committee was proposed to deal with the issue of prisoners' release.<sup>(40)</sup>

Hence, the outlines of Karzai's two-level reconciliation and reintegration peace plan first offered an attractive proposal to Taliban to have their names removed from the international terrorist blacklist<sup>(41)</sup> with permission for some to become a part of mainstream politics whereas top Taliban leadership could live securely in exile outside Afghanistan, though only if the Taliban accepted the legitimacy of the Afghan Constitution, opted to end insurgency and snapped ties with Al-Qaeda. The second part of the plan, greatly supported by the international community, focused on the reintegration of lower-level Taliban foot soldiers that had joined insurgency for financial or non-ideological reasons and would be willing to quit in return for suitable compensation.<sup>(42)</sup>

#### Afghanistan Peace and Reintegration Programme (APRP)

In response to the NCPJ resolution, the Afghanistan Peace and Reintegration Programme (APRP) was created. On 20 July 2010, at the Kabul Conference the international community endorsed the programme followed by issuing of a Joint Order to the federal ministries and provincial governors for the implementation of APRP.<sup>(43)</sup> This conference was hosted by the Afghan Government and co-chaired by the United Nations, as an attempt to renew commitment for an Afghan-led national agenda of emphasizing good governance and enhanced security prospects in addition to the implementation of Priority National Programmes.<sup>(44)</sup>

## High Peace Council (HPC)

To lead and manage the implementation of APRP, the Afghanistan High Peace Council (HPC), a 70-member body, was formed in October 2011 through a presidential decree. The Council is composed of Jihadi, political and community leaders, religious scholars, tribal elders, civil society and nine women representatives with the directive to lead nation-wide support for reconciliation and reintegration under the peace process.<sup>(45)</sup> Some of the former Taliban were also made members of the High Peace Council.<sup>(46)</sup> The Council was initially chaired by former Afghan president and Northern Alliance figure Burhanuddin Rabbani, until his assassination. In April 2012, Burhanuddin's son Salahuddin Rabbani was named the Chief Negotiator and Chairman of the Council by President Karzai.<sup>(47)</sup> An important reason behind both the Rabbanis' appointment was to gain acceptance by political opposition for any future accords.

The HPC is not confined to national level alone and has reached out for support to neighbouring and regional powers. According to the Government's peace strategy, peace efforts will be made at two levels:

- The strategic and political level; where reconciliation talks are held with senior insurgency members as well as mobilization of regional cooperation and international support to the Afghan-led peace process
- 2) The national and sub-national level; where the Afghan Government, HPC, civil society, and all stakeholders work to build a national support base and consensus in Afghanistan and manage reintegration of excombatants.

The HPC manages peace efforts at a national level and peace committees lead the efforts at provincial level with provincial governors, with assistance of Provincial Peace Committees.<sup>(48)</sup>

In the beginning, an important component of the Afghan Peace Programme directly helped about 25,000 people, reintegrating some and helping other community members through small grant and line ministry projects covering sectors like water, agriculture, infrastructural development and vocational training.<sup>(49)</sup> Operationally, APRP's goal for the first year was to initiate programme activities in eight provinces and enrol up to 1,000 reintegrating people,<sup>(50)</sup> for which a \$94 million annual budget for the HPC was approved. By the end of December 2012, the APRP had officially reintegrated about 5,900 insurgents who left the battlefield and reconciled with their communities.<sup>(61)</sup> The challenging task then and now is the creation of meaningful employment opportunities for them, so that they are not tempted or forced to return to insurgent ranks. Another challenge for the government is to ensure security and safety for those who have left the ranks of combatants to join the peace process.<sup>(52)</sup>

Despite nation-wide support to the peace process, the HPC has been criticized since its formation. The reaction of the media, public, civil society and even parliamentarians has been critical of the Council. One of the major concerns of the Afghan critics was the composition of the HPC which appears to be dominated by warlords. A significant number of the Council members can be considered to have 'war expertise' rather than 'peace expertise', a fact that has had an adverse effect in building trust among Afghans and the international community. Not only that, most members also hold other governmental commissions, which can slow down the peace process, leading to its failure in the end.<sup>(53)</sup>

There was a negative reaction towards Rabbani being chosen as the head of the Council. As Muhammad Sa'id Niazi, a member of the HPC, said Rabbani's appointment was not a step forward in reintegrating the insurgents, rather it would strengthen Taliban's rejection of all attempts made by the government in initiating peace talks, because most HPC members were involved in the war against Taliban. In fact, ten organizational networks wrote a proposal to the government for replacing the HPC members accused of human rights violations and suspected of war crimes with people having expertise in conflict resolution, mediation and reconciliation. These civil society networks emphasized the role of the civil society in decision making, and stressed the

need to include national interest, justice and women's rights ideals in the decision making process.<sup>(54)</sup>

#### Karzai's fears of ownership & irrelevance backfire

Since the beginning of his first term in office President Hamid Karzai has been distrustful of American, British, European and even UN diplomats, when it came to conducting talks with the Taliban. Karzai expelled British adviser to the European Union mission, Michael Semple, and senior British UN official, Mervyn Patterson, for engaging in talks with the Taliban in Helmand province, without authorization from Helmand Governor.<sup>(55)</sup> The diplomats were also allegedly supplying cash and weapons to the Taliban. Both UN and British intelligence agency MI6 secretly held talks with the insurgents, believing it was possible to separate hardcore leadership from non-ideological commanders. This created a rift between the Afghan Government and the foreign powers involved.<sup>(56)</sup>

Similarly, Karzai's suspicions of US became a reality when US backchannel propositions to the Taliban became known. One noteworthy example of US-Karzai rift is the opening of Taliban's Doha office, also known as the Qatar process (to be discussed in detail later). The event was considered a diplomatic milestone finally aimed at pushing the peace process forward after twelve years of violence; However, the process was disrupted by President Karzai's boycott; he was afraid that if the initiative worked out well he would be ditched by the Americans besides being treated as irrelevant by the Taliban.<sup>(57)</sup>

Karzai has expressed the wish that Taliban are made to understand that the peace process would eventually shift to Afghanistan. He mentioned three principles in the context of HPC members' visit to Qatar for peace talks. He said that the Qatar talks must be moved to Afghanistan immediately, they should bring an end to violence, and must not become a tool for a 'third country' — by which he meant Pakistan — to exploit Afghanistan.<sup>(58)</sup>

The underlying fear behind these conditions appears to be that the Taliban would gain attention and increasing legitimacy through direct talks with the US and thus expose Karzai as being ineffective. Karzai reacted by blaming disruption of the peace process on the US and Pakistan. Karzai's sense of personal insecurity and the mistrust between him and the US added to the weakening bilateral relations. President Karzai, already disliked within the country, knew that he was not liked in the US and many Western capitals either. The trust level is very low on both sides. Karzai and his close associates don't trust the US as a reliable partner and suspect it is collaborating with both the Taliban and Pakistan, seeking to cut deals with them behind his back. Karzai complains that the West hijacked the Afghan peace process to strengthen his opponents and malign or undermine his government.<sup>(59)</sup>

He also accuses the Americans of secretly engineering his political downfall, especially since the 2009 elections in Afghanistan. The former US special envoy to Afghanistan and Pakistan, Richard Holbrooke, and the then US ambassador to Afghanistan, Karl Eikenberry were actively playing backchannel roles to politically depose Karzai. They held meetings with his opponents and supported them in presidential campaign rallies. Karzai was aware of the American scheming and retaliated by striking deals with various warlords to win their support in elections.<sup>(60)</sup> Hence, it was due to his distrust that the Obama Administration failed to win his support for ensuring cordial bilateral ties. And it was one of the reasons for the delay in signing the Bilateral Security Agreement (BSA). Karzai keeps adding conditions to the deal, despite being aware of the significance of the agreement and country's dependence on US military and financial aid.

## Conditions & demands of the Afghan Government

The most important demands of the Karzai government from US and the international community are,

- a. Continuation of post-withdrawal financial aid, at least four to five billion dollars a year<sup>(61)</sup>
- b. Starting of a practical peace process which would stop foreigners benefiting from the continuation of war in Afghanistan<sup>(62)</sup>

c. Peacekeeping forces provided by the international community and US until Afghan National Security Forces are capable of taking security control of their country. This demand is still pending under the BSA, that would assure presence of a certain number of international troops post withdrawal to train Afghan Security Forces in counterterrorism operations.<sup>(63)</sup>

## Peace process: Karzai vs Taliban

Peace negotiations are imperative, yet the main parties to negotiations in Afghanistan have conflicting interests that none seems willing to compromise on. The Taliban leadership claims to be fighting a 'jihad', with the aim of re-imposing its government in Afghanistan, based on its religious and ideological beliefs. The Taliban have been completely unwilling to negotiate on anything other than the 'divine goal' of enforcing *Shariah*. This is not acceptable to the government or to the Afghan people.

In contrast, the Karzai administration is fighting for a democratic, representative government and for its own survival, for which it has even offered power-sharing deals to the insurgents, if they agree to lay down arms.<sup>(64)</sup>

Karzai began voicing his concerns and softened stance towards the Taliban, once he realized that he was just an option for the US and had become isolated internationally. Relations between his administration and the Taliban have always been complex. Karzai opted for mild diplomacy while pursuing reconciliation with them. It was reported that after Taliban's ouster in the beginning, he even held a meeting with the Taliban militants in Kandahar to discuss possible conditions for their endorsement of the peace process. Kabul officials also explained to all militants that they could join the new government and could work on key administrative posts, without the fear of being persecuted. But seemingly, Taliban leaders, who refer to Karzai as West's puppet, refused to join and accept conditions of the foreign countries involved in Afghanistan.<sup>(65)</sup>

What the top Taliban leadership sees in Karzai's peace invitation is a call for surrender, rather than talks. Still, Karzai remained determined and tactically worked to transform the peace initiative from Western-led collaboration, to Afghanization of peace mission where he empowers the Afghans to lead not only national security tasks but the peace process as well. <sup>(66)</sup>

Karzai worked to negotiate a deal with top insurgent leaders or mid-level figures, even if senior heads were not willing.<sup>(67)</sup> The key objective of including the top leadership in the reconciliation talks was to ensure its implementation since it would be easier to convince low-level fighters to give up insurgency. Also, the foot soldiers or lower-level fighters were under strict instructions by the top commanders to refrain from engaging personally in peace talks.<sup>(68)</sup> Gradually, Karzai became daring in his outreach, and tried various tactics from publicly calling the Taliban 'brothers', to offering them power-sharing arrangements with amendment in the Constitution. Many experts believe that this reflects the government's willingness to compromise on those constitutional articles that are not in line with militant's ideology.<sup>(69)</sup>

On 10 March 2007, President Karzai signed a broader amnesty plan, the National Stability and Reconciliation Bill. Despite heavy criticism from all sides, this bill exempted all combatants and parties involved in armed conflict, from *jihad* to civil war, including the Taliban, from prosecution. Not just this, the Bill also provides them immunity from any criticism. Since the 2005 parliamentary elections, former Taliban under the label of moderates were appointed at key posts in ministries, both federal and provincial. From Afghan Government's perspective the Amnesty Bill was a step towards an inclusive vision of reconciliation.<sup>(70)</sup>

#### From reconciliation & reintegration to power-sharing

Theorists like Caroline Hatzell and Matthew Hoddie hold that negotiations, with a view to power-sharing, would be optimal means of resolving internal conflicts. Both stress the significance of creating power-sharing or power-dividing institutions. Groups must have a means, other than relying on the use of force, for resolving their disagreements.<sup>(71)</sup> The concept is being mentioned here to shed light on Karzai's attempts for bringing insurgent leaders to the negotiating table, by including power-sharing approach into the reconciliation and reintegration strategy.

The ambitious roadmap drafted by Karzai's HPC clearly penned down his approach of accommodating the Taliban and other armed groups into the political and social mainstream. Step three of the roadmap gives an insight into transforming the Taliban and other militant groups into political movements. Once it is done, these groups will be encouraged to participate in elections. The Taliban and other groups would also be facilitated to enter into the power structure of the state through non-elected positions at different levels. This way they will become a part of Afghan society once again.<sup>(72)</sup>

However, analytically speaking, in Afghanistan it is difficult to envisage a functioning power-sharing institution, given the reality of intense animosity between the warring parties with their ambitious political designs. No matter whatever the political power-sharing settlement between the Government and the insurgents, it should be understood that safeguarding the people's interests against any oligarchic or extremist setup has to be a supreme objective.<sup>(73)</sup>

### Karzai's dual play

Karzai's anti-US oratory to gain support of the Taliban by pressurizing Americans has not made him any more popular. His statements against the international community and the US were, in fact, criticised. At the same time, Karzai was perceived to be acting like a 'guest in his country', who has 'no power'. His criticism of airstrikes on Afghans was rejected by the public as being merely symbolic. These factors left the Taliban and the common Afghans considering Karzai and his government weak and ineffective. This impression has not only encouraged top Taliban leadership to step up their movement further but also shattered the hopes and confidence of the Afghans. They seem even more scared for their future in case the regime collapses.<sup>(74)</sup>

The tensions between Karzai and the Obama Administration have been exploited by Taliban. A paramount example is Karzai's backtracking over the signing of the BSA, despite the fact that the Loya Jirga had given its approval. The Taliban leadership, who "don't want any occupier in their country,"<sup>(75)</sup> has appreciated Karzai's delay in signing the security deal. However, the HPC remains critical of this course of action, and Salahuddin Rabbani held that Karzai's decision had made the insurgents stronger than pro-peace elements.<sup>(76)</sup> Some among the Afghan leaders speculated that this might lead to a political breakthrough with the Taliban who are willing to join the peace process, whereas others believe that the prospects of a negotiated peace settlement after a decade of war have been further reduced.

The internal and external legitimization given to Taliban had made President Karzai so apprehensive that he was trying to grab negotiating reins, by holding secret talks with certain insurgent figures before the presidential elections in April. Simultaneously, he was seeking to install a trusted successor, so that the shaky political structure doesn't collapse, giving the Taliban an easy return to power — hence playing a gamble.<sup>(77)</sup>

However, Karzai's attempts to appease the Taliban seem ill-informed as the Taliban see him and his regime as puppets serving the interests of the 'Western Crusaders.' "Moreover, no matter how much Karzai keeps trying to cosy up with the Taliban, whatever criticism he keeps prompting against US that make him sound like Taliban, it won't put him in Taliban's good books. Since their removal Taliban have seen Karzai's face and he would be the first to be thrown out if the Taliban returns to Kabul."<sup>(78)</sup> This might perhaps be the reason that Karzai wants to negotiate and come to an understanding with the top Taliban leadership, so that he and his family or close ones are fully protected, secure and well rewarded, as for the past decade despite being placed in the position of head of State, he, in fact, has remained rootless.<sup>(79)</sup>

## The influential negotiators

The negotiators considered influential by the central parties to the peace process, the Afghan Government and the Taliban, are Pakistan and the US. President Karzai recently said that peace in his country directly depended upon and lay in the hands of America and Pakistan.<sup>(80)</sup>

While the Afghan Government would clearly make key decisions and lead the process, the role of the US and Pakistan in the Afghan peace process cannot be ignored. Their participation is imperative, as even though the US is preparing for an exit, it remains a tangible party to the Afghan conflict. The Taliban don't recognize the Karzai Government, call him a US puppet, and prefer negotiating directly with the US. Washington is also interested in discussing peace settlement with both the Afghan

Government and Taliban, as any agreement will require the support of the international community, and the US would remain to play a significant role in mustering security and financial backing.

Pakistan is important because it has been instrumental in convincing Taliban to agree to engage in direct talks with the UN Security Council as well as the US. Furthermore, the Afghan Taliban are said to have sanctuaries in the country's volatile border areas. They are active in waging war and violence with the support of Pakistani insurgents on Afghans and foreign troops from their sanctuaries. So to confront the insurgency, Pakistan's support and assistance for peace settlement is highly significant. Therefore, an Afghan-led and -owned process needs to be strategized in a way that allows Pakistan and US to play a supporting role, to assist and help the Afghan administration manage issues like future governance, future US presence in the country and Pak-Afghan bilateral relations.

#### **The United States**

As we reassure our partners that our relationships and engagement in Afghanistan will continue after the military transition in 2014, we should underscore that we have long-term strategic interests in the broader region... As the United States enters a new phase of engagement in Afghanistan, we must lay the foundation for a long-term strategy that sustains our security gains and protects US interests...

- US Secretary of State John Kerry,

then Chair of Senate Foreign Relations Committee<sup>(81)</sup>

Afghanistan is geographically located at the crossroads of the Middle Eastern, the South Asian and the South East Asian fault lines. Strategically speaking, Afghanistan sits at the strategic pivot where influential Russia, growing China, Iran and within South Asia Pakistan and India are easily reachable. This alone makes Afghanistan important for the US. The post-9/11 global war against terrorism brought US an opening towards its already buoyant national interests through Afghanistan in the region. To be precise, the Afghan war with US physical presence in the country generated new sets of opportunities for extending American strategic influence, ambitions of expanding its hegemonic hubris across the post-Soviet space usually referred to as "the Stans" by seeking to gain unlimited regional access, not to be lost easily in future. Although in pursuit of these interests the region has been sowed with inflammable conflicts and future instability. The US administration looks at Afghanistan from broader national interest perspective.<sup>(82)</sup>

Mindful of its broader interests in the region, America has multiple goals in Afghanistan, including:

- Preventing Afghanistan from becoming a sanctuary for al-Qaeda and/or an ally of al-Qaeda as the country was under the Taliban
- Creating a stable, autonomous and friendly state in Afghanistan
- Preventing Afghan violence from further destabilizing Pakistan
- Preserving NATO alliance's credibility
- Preservation of democratic and human rights values for Afghans<sup>(83)</sup>
- To safeguard the gains of all US past efforts by damage control and preserving on the ground situation<sup>(84)</sup>

The first goal was also one of the reasons that prompted the US under president Bush to invade Afghanistan and still is the primary objective under Obama Administration. Realising the primary objectives in Afghanistan might, however, compromise American ideals of democracy and human rights. The American and NATO demands from the Taliban prior to any peace deal have been;

- Acceptance of the Afghan Constitution
- Recognition of the Afghan Government
- Renunciation of their ties with Al-Qaeda
- End of terrorist and insurgent activities for a successful transition of control to Afghan forces<sup>(85)</sup>

The most challenging part for US administration in resolving the peace issue had been to bring the Karzai government and the Taliban together to initiate a negotiating process. The mistrust between the Karzai Government and the Taliban has created major hurdles for the peace initiative. The weak and corrupt government, expressing anti-US sentiment over the past few years, has also created difficulties for American interests in the country. On top of this, US decision of pursuing counterinsurgency policy along with NATO allies and the administration's reservations over Karzai's policies have worsened the situation.

#### Diverging interests & strategy

The reconciliation and reintegration policies, two basic planks of the Afghan peace process strategy, have been adequately understood according to US and Afghan Government's peculiar interests. The Obama Administration supported the peace Jirga after intensive discussions with the Afghan officials, yet they remained sceptical of the reconciliation strategy. Subsequently, the US agreed to explore peace negotiations or settlement with the Taliban, though differences persisted over with whom the talks would be held. While the US backed the reintegration of low-to-mid level Taliban fighters into mainstream society, it was hesitant to endorse inclusion of top Taliban leadership in the process. As for holding talks with Mullah Omar, Karzai officially expressed willingness to reach out to him, whereas the US considering him a "fugitive", wanted him to be excluded from peace talks and denied any future political leverage.<sup>(86)</sup>

Reintegration, as viewed by Karzai, is to make efforts to provide incentives to insurgents to tempt them into renouncing fighting. As for US, it is only recently that it opened up to engaging higher insurgent leadership into the reintegration process. Initially, the 'US Military Field Manual on Counterinsurgency Operations' described reintegration as a form of "golden surrender" and "a way out for insurgents who have lost the desire to continue the struggle."<sup>(87)</sup> Robert Gates views reintegration as getting the foot soldiers to decide that they don't want to be a part of the Taliban any more. General McChrystal said it addressed mid-to-low level insurgent fighters by offering eligible insurgents reasonable incentives to stop fighting and return to normalcy, possibly by including the employment or protection provisions. This approach was aimed at weakening and dividing the insurgents.<sup>(88)</sup> Hence, during the 2010 London Conference, the international community was clear on applying the reintegration programme to foot soldiers and local leaders once they renounced violence, but remained reluctant over reconciliation policy.

#### Washington's change of heart

Although reintegration and reconciliation are two distinct concepts yet they have the potential to be pursued together. The US strategy was to engage in peace talks with the insurgent leadership, while NATO commanders would successfully engage and coopt local insurgent leaders in the field to an extent that local efforts effectively break away lower-level commanders from their forces, which would then put pressure on the top insurgent leadership to negotiate. There were various reasons for the swing.

First, shifting loyalties among Afghan insurgents was hard to achieve because Taliban insurgency is rooted not in ethnic minorities of the country but the Pashtun majority community. Second, al-Qaeda presence in Afghanistan is limited and poses no threat to Afghan insurgent leadership. Third, three decades of war has made Afghanistan, its society and tribal structure much weaker and immensely corrupt. Consequently, there is almost no possibility of finding viable Afghan elders who can influence their followers to switch sides.<sup>(89)</sup> Fourth, the support initially accorded to America's chosen man Karzai has declined within US and the West, leading to an 'unsustainable' current setup. Fifth, the allied states refused to comply with continuous American persuasion to keep providing their troops for US strategic war. Sixth, the waning US and NATO military power in Afghanistan, and the troop withdrawal, set for 2014, created the need for negotiations from a relatively urgent and strengthened perspective. Seventh, domestic economic burden pressurized the US administration to restrict time and resources being spent on an open-ended war in Afghanistan.<sup>(90)</sup>

And last, Washington has realized that the Afghan insurgent sanctuaries in Pakistan would not be destroyed anytime soon. Hence, the regional scenario forced a change in the American perspective, leading to US giving consent to Karzai regarding talks with the insurgent leadership. Washington's acceptance of such negotiations was tinged with apprehension, though.<sup>(91)</sup>

Despite the projected 2014 'drawdown' of most of its troops, the US is not about to exit the strategically vital Afghanistan connected with the resource-rich region of Central Asia. It may be recalled that the US under Obama has changed the withdrawal timeline thrice, from 2011 to 2014 and now supposedly to 2024, once the BSA has been signed between the two governments. In any of the presidential speeches and in the Strategic Partnership Agreement (SPA) signed between Kabul and Washington there is no mention of a complete withdrawal. President Obama has specifically called for a shift from combat to support mission after 2014. Although the expression 'support mission' sounds reassuringly hopeful, yet a closer look at US policy mission in post-2014 Afghanistan hints at America's inclination towards direct counterinsurgency tasks over logistical and training support. The precedent of American non-combat troops getting engaged in targeted counter operations is another reason for the delay in signing the BSA.<sup>(92)</sup>

#### Withdrawal timeframe

A precondition to peace talks from Taliban's side is the exit of American and other foreign forces from Afghanistan. But the US did the exact opposite, with Afghan Government's approval, by engaging in aggressive fighting. The high expectations and tight timeframe has given rise to various genuine concerns for the Americans. They are specifically alarmed about the influence that regional powers stand to exercise in post-2014 scenario. Almost all regional countries, including China lately, are keen to play a role in the post-2014 Afghanistan. So with a gradual decline in its leverage, the US finds it difficult to maintain its hard stance in terms of its prerequisites when talking to the Taliban. With the remaining influence, the US administration has been trying hard to reach a settlement with the Taliban, else further delay makes it impossible to pressurize Taliban to break ties with al-Qaeda.

## Carrots and sticks approach

In the past few years, the Haqqani network has emerged as a high-profile American enemy and a strategic threat to its interests in the region. In September 2012, the Obama Government termed the Haqqani network a foreign terrorist organization and listed its suicide operations chief Qari Zakir as a "specially designated global terrorist." Following US actions, the UN Security Council's Taliban Sanctions Committee also placed the network on its blacklist.<sup>(93)</sup> The US administration believes that Pakistani intelligence has been supporting the network. As Jeffrey Dressler reported, Pakistan has facilitated the network not just with sanctuaries, but also with strategic and operational guidance.<sup>(94)</sup> The accusations have always been strongly denied by Pakistan, though. The Haqqani network is not considered a purely Afghan network by the US. American officials believe that Pakistani Taliban operate in and around Afghanistan. From day one, Islamabad has been under US pressure to take action against the Haqqani network and the Quetta Shura. Pakistan has so far managed to resist this demand.<sup>(95)</sup>

When the stick approach failed, Washington finally offered carrots to provide momentum for peace talks. It was not just Karzai pressing for talks with top Taliban leadership, even the Haqqani group commander said that the Americans would not find a possible solution to the Afghan conflict if they approached only individuals or fighting groups, without engaging in talks with Mullah Omar and Taliban Shura.<sup>(96)</sup> Pakistan, from the start, has been asking the US to opt for peace talks, rather than engaging in a military strategy. Former secretary of state Hillary Clinton publicly acknowledged that with Pakistan's assistance the US Government took a chance and reached out to the Haqqani militants, simply to check whether they showed any interest in holding talks with them. But, both Pakistan and US remain at odds with each other over the order of peace talks with the Taliban and their allies.<sup>(97)</sup>

#### US-Taliban: Series of talks

In 2005, the US military launched a Taliban reconciliation specific effort called 'Allegiance Program'. The command began with Afghan Government's approval, with the release of 80 former Taliban detainees each month from US detention facilities. But it was marred by absence of monitoring and follow-up.<sup>(98)</sup> A change in the US approach began to emerge in March 2009, with the Obama Administration showing willingness to reach out to moderate elements within the Afghan Taliban. The US bypassed the Karzai administration and began having secret meetings with the Taliban. In November 2010, direct contact between US officials and the Taliban began with Germany.<sup>(99)</sup>

In February 2011, preliminary talks between the Taliban and the US were held in Doha, Qatar, (as mentioned above). Talks were held with the Taliban Political Commission, a newly formed group fully authorized by Taliban leader Mullah Omar.<sup>(100)</sup> It was more of an agenda-based discussion where Taliban presented a two-step approach. Their first demand to US was the release of five operatives detained in Guantanamo Bay, including three senior commanders, and in return they offered to release an American soldier, Sergeant Bowe Bergdahl, held prisoner since 2009. Once prisoner exchange demand was agreed, the second step of confidence-building measures were to be considered. In this second step Taliban were seeking to engage in talks with the US to sort out issues like withdrawal of foreign troops from Afghanistan to stop continuation of war. Interestingly, Taliban were willing to tolerate presence of American trainers and advisers for Afghan troops. Once concerns with US were settled, they wanted all-inclusive talks with Afghan groups, exclusive of HPC representatives handpicked by Karzai.<sup>(101)</sup>

In May 2011 preliminary talks between the Taliban and the US were held in Germany. The reconciliation process and talks with the Taliban had just started after a long bumpy road, that began nearly two years ago, but was later scuttled by Karzai. Substantial changes began to emerge, although at a gradual and slow pace, when Qatar, a close US ally, offered itself as interlocutor to initiate proper preliminary talks between the US and Taliban. US Special Envoy to Afghanistan and Pakistan, Marc Grossman, met with Afghan Taliban representatives in Qatar in January 2012 where they explored the possibilities of opening a dialogue with the Taliban. The latter were represented by a high-ranking delegation comprising Tayyab Agha, a former secretary to Mullah Omar, former Taliban foreign minister Shir Muhammad Abbas Stanekzai and former Taliban ambassador to Saudi Arabia Shabuddin Delawar. The two sides agreed that the Taliban open a formal office in Doha.<sup>(102)</sup>

In March 2012 preliminary talks between the US and Taliban were terminated over the issue of prisoner release. Taliban accused the US of backtracking on their pledge of releasing Taliban commanders from Guantanamo as part of confidence-building package. The talks were abandoned over the order or sequence of steps to be taken, as Taliban expected prisoner exchange before talks. After a deadlock of about 18 months, Taliban agreed to restart the talks with US, though this was achieved through Pakistan's efforts with the Taliban.<sup>(103)</sup>

No sooner than the Taliban opened their office in Doha, which was praised by President Obama as an 'important first step' towards reconciliation, President Karzai protested and boycotted the Qatar process and suspended the security agreement. This time Karzai's outrage was over Taliban's using the "Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan" emblem and flag at the office, which presented them as a legitimate Afghan governmentin-exile. Although within days the emblem was removed, yet it had become a source of contention, leading to the eventual closing of the office and delaying of the first ever US-Taliban formal peace talks.<sup>(104)</sup>

Still, the shaky event remains highly significant in which Pakistan played a vital role behind the scenes. The Doha office was a representation of first signs of willingness on part of US and Taliban, who got an international recognition as a legitimate negotiating partner — a status they were actually striving for. In order for peace talks to materialize, Obama in 2011 had expressed flexibility by inviting Taliban and the Haqqani network for formal talks in Qatar. US offered key concessions as an invitation to talks by dropping its three pre-conditions for talks, which were an immediate break with al-Qaeda, renunciation of violence, and acceptance of Afghan Constitution. But as expected, Taliban refused to stop using Afghan soil to threaten other countries and supporting the Afghan peace process.<sup>(105)</sup>

#### Pakistan

"I have absolutely no doubt that there will be complete chaos in Afghanistan if a settlement is not reached by 2014. Afghanistan will erupt. And when that happens, Pakistan will have to pay."

Pakistan Foreign Ministry official, 26 March 2013<sup>(106)</sup>

#### Pakistan's challenges & interests

#### Homegrown insurgency

Pakistan's national interests require a stable Afghanistan. Afghanistan's destabilization will have seriously damaging consequences in Pakistan, as it will bring a spillover of insurgency and an influx of refugee in the country. The real challenge confronted by Pakistan for the last decade is from the western border. The insurgency in Afghanistan has become an existential threat to Pakistan. Pakistan has suffered more casualties in the last decade from the Afghan conflict than it had suffered in the three wars with India. Pakistan is already fighting its own war with Taliban insurgents. Its military forces have been battling homegrown insurgency being waged under the banner of the TTP. The TTP attempted to replicate Afghan Taliban on the Pakistani soil. It has formed alliances with the Afghan Taliban and other extremist groups in the country. Both give each other support and sanctuaries across the borders in areas under their control.<sup>(107)</sup>

Pakistani Taliban aim to destabilise Pakistan, for which they have frequently carried out suicide bombings in various parts of the country.<sup>(108)</sup> The civilian and military leadership in Pakistan are united on countering the threats. The State aims at separating the Pakistani and Afghan Taliban. Pakistan is willing to exercise whatever residual influence it can over the top leadership of Afghan Taliban so that they are accommodated in the Afghan system, as also desired by the Karzai Government, although not in a dominant position otherwise they will strongly support the insurgents in Pakistan. Once the two Talibans are split, Pakistan can take effective counterinsurgency measures against the local Taliban.<sup>(109)</sup>

Therefore, Pakistan's commitment to ending insurgent threat to its already vulnerable security situation has been a top priority. In the context of this challenge, Pakistan is obligated to play a positive role in Afghanistan. Both nations have a common enemy to tackle, and it can only be done if there is mutual understanding and coordination.

A triangular nexus

India's presence and role in Afghanistan has raised suspicions in Islamabad, creating yet another challenge in an already complex situation. In the past decade, a triangular nexus of US-Afghanistan-India had been established that threatens Pakistan. Pakistan's foreign policy has always been India-centric and revolves around India-Pakistan security paradigm. Afghanistan was also viewed from an India-centric perspective. With the war against terrorism raging Pakistan had initially relaxed its concentration towards its eastern border. However, with Karzai calling Pakistan "a twin brother and India a great friend,"<sup>(110)</sup> following it up with an invitation to India to extend its influence in his country, Pakistan got wary of Indian intentions. While Pakistan was already struggling with insecurity over India's influence in Afghanistan, the US formed a nexus with India, to encourage wider Indian role in Afghanistan.

Previously US had discouraged Indian military involvement in Afghanistan due to Pakistan's fears of being encircled by India. New Delhi also moved cautiously in Afghanistan keeping economic and infrastructure development in the limelight. But once the Indo-US relations took a turn for the better, US encouraged an enhanced Indian role there. Both US and India acknowledge Pakistan's role to make Afghan peace viable, for which Pakistan's legitimate security interests need to be accommodated. But the trilateral diplomatic context of Kabul-New Delhi-Washington is inclined towards encouraging Indian role in Afghanistan.<sup>(11)</sup>

Besides American encouragement, Indian ambitions of power projection in South Asia and beyond raises questions within Pakistan. By playing a critical role in the security and economic development of Afghanistan, New Delhi hopes to be able to shape regional and global developments. Former Indian foreign secretary Nirupama Rao asserted that for India to emerge as a world power "a peaceful and stable neighbourhood and external environment" is required, that suggests that India looks for stability in Afghanistan as a key requisite to achieve its fundamental strategic goals. Therefore lately, India's assertive approach towards additional security policy deployment and military cooperation in Afghanistan has become significant.<sup>(112)</sup>

Following the Indo-Afghan Strategic Partnership Agreement signed in 2011, India provided light weapons and counterinsurgency (Coin) training to Afghan security forces. The bilateral security partnership with Indian troops presence in Afghanistan has not been taken lightly in Pakistan. Karzai has also responded positively to Indian interest in the country, knowing that it would further deepen mistrust between the two countries.<sup>(113)</sup>

On top of this, Karzai's 14 official visits to India are seen as a clear sign of his tilt towards India, especially during his last visit the wish list he presented appeared to be a clear invitation for India to exercise all of its strategic options including boosting of Afghanistan's security apparatus.<sup>(114)</sup> In case India expands its role in Afghanistan in terms of security after the drawdown of international forces, it will set off alarm bells in already suspicious Pakistan. Moreover, discussions about Indian foreign policy under Narendra Modi as prime minister show the extent of Pakistan's concerns. India under Manmohan Singh had been aware of the Pakistani sensitivities towards Indian military role in Afghanistan and remained reluctant to follow Kabul's wish list, but this might not be the case under Modi. Modi had been critical of Singh for being too soft on Pakistan.<sup>(115)</sup> Hence, Pakistan's concerns regarding Indian threat coming from Afghan soil cannot be ignored.

#### Karzai's diplomatic swing

After Karzai administration's realization of Pakistan's role in the peace process and subsequent shift in policy, Pakistan committed to assist the Afghan Government. Since Afghanistan came under the US patronage in the post-Taliban period, Pakistan was initially cornered and isolated by both the Bush administration and Karzai, until Karzai himself came under US criticism. Therefore, President Karzai, after getting re-elected in 2009, widened the circle of peace process with inclusion of Pakistan and regionalizing of the Afghan peace process.

The Afghan Government reached out to other neighbouring countries through a roadmap devised by Karzai or rather the High Peace Council in 2012. The document envisioned that the Taliban and other armed groups would have given up arms by 2015

and would be incorporated into Afghan politics and society. The idea behind the peace roadmap was to make the political system inclusive, democratic and equitable with all political parties and actors co-existing to pursue their political goals constitutionally. The document guides a five-step process to achieve peace with regional cooperation.<sup>(116)</sup>

Following the roadmap, securing Pakistan's support in strengthening the Afghanled and Afghan-owned peace process was crucial, for which the Council outlined a set of prerequisites to test Pakistan's commitment to peace, including;

- a) Release of Taliban detainees from Pakistani prisons or any other third country with Pakistan's assistance for confidence-building measures between the two countries
- b) Pakistan using of its influence to encourage Taliban to break ties with al-Qaeda
- c) Facilitation of direct contacts between the HPC/Afghanistan Government and leaders of Taliban and other armed opposition groups
- d) Afghanistan, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and US to explore and agree on terms for initiating direct peace talks between the HPC/Afghanistan Government and leaders of Taliban and other Afghan armed groups with Saudi Arabia as the venue.

Karzai attached a practical commitment condition for Pakistan to fulfil Afghan demands. Afghanistan demanded and followed as being drafted the bilateral and trilateral meetings where countries like Turkey, Saudi Arabia, US (in Core Group format) and UK (FM trilateral format) were involved.<sup>(117)</sup> Islamabad and Kabul established a Joint Afghan-Pakistan Peace Commission in March 2011, with its first official meeting held in Islamabad in June 2011 to promote confidence-building measures for furthering political discussions. Similarly, a Core Group of Pakistan, Afghanistan and US was created to assess progress and priority recommendations. The Istanbul Conference, Bonn II, Chicago Conference, and Tokyo Conference were important opportunities for the Afghan Government to reflect upon its past policies and setbacks in the peace efforts.<sup>(118)</sup>

On closer look, it appears the roadmap was outlined by Karzai to attain a consistent and coherent channel to launch formal, direct negotiations with the mentioned parties.

#### Prisoner release pressures

President Karzai and Afghan Peace Council kept pressurizing the Pakistan Government to release the Afghan Taliban detained in Pakistani prisons. Afghan officials handed a list of prisoners to Pakistan. Karzai believed that their release would be an incentive for Taliban insurgents to participate in the peace process. Pakistan initially showed reluctance in releasing the prisoners, as there had been no guarantees and no mechanism to follow the releases through which their enrolment into the reconciliatory programme would be made possible. But, with increasing pressure from the Afghan side, Pakistan was left with no choice but to comply with the demand. As expected, most of the freed Afghan Taliban rejoined the insurgency instead of joining the peace process. The blame for this once again fell upon Pakistan, and Karzai opined that Pakistan had mishandled the matter. Karzai asked Pakistan to set up a mechanism to track freed prisoners all of whom were Afghan nationals. Pakistan established the system.<sup>(119)</sup>

Getting nowhere with the peace plan, Karzai began to pressurize Pakistan for the release of No. 2 Taliban commander, Mullah Ghani Baradar. Pakistan released Baradar, but due to inefficiency in the past, Islamabad only allowed Afghan delegates to hold meeting with him regarding the talks where he delivered Shura's message to the Council.<sup>(120)</sup> However, Karzai Government's accusations of Pakistan's lack of sincerity for peace, annoyed Pakistan as it had released the prisoners and facilitated the talks, but no effort had been made by the Karzai administration to bring insurgents to the table for talks.<sup>(121)</sup> Karzai's plan of wooing the Taliban by releasing them from prison thus failed.

#### *Effective diplomacy*

In the context of Afghan Government's demands or expectations from Pakistan, Pakistan used diplomatic channels with both the US and Taliban, to soften their rigid positions towards each other. The opening of Taliban's Doha office and US-Taliban direct talks that captured lot of media hype, was indeed an outcome of months long secret negotiations by Pakistan. There had been behind-the-scenes direct talks between the Obama Administration and Pakistani policymakers with US Secretary of State John Kerry and Pakistan's then chief of army staff General Kayani.<sup>(122)</sup>

The talks between the two parties revolved around grappling with Taliban's top leadership Mullah Omar and the Haqqani network. The US realizing the vitality of the Haqqani network, started considering the possibility of talks with them. From here, Pakistan began persuading Washington to change its rigid stance towards Taliban. The US had been insisting on certain preconditions as mentioned earlier. Pakistan persuaded the US to initiate the reconciliatory phase, before moving on to the preconditions.<sup>(123)</sup>

On the other hand Pakistan also engaged the Taliban to convince them to be flexible in their stance. Taliban were persuaded to understand that by participating in the peace dialogue process, they can gain international acceptance, and their primary demand of international forces exiting Afghanistan could be met. They were also made to understand that continuance of the armed conflict would prolong the stay of the foreign forces. Hence, despite Washington's doubts, the Taliban agreed to come to the negotiating table. The circumstances on both sides prior to talks were such that Taliban hardliners, especially those from the operational ranks, were not ready to give any space to the US. While the US was so exhausted with its stand-alone efforts, that it could have settled for a Taliban powersharing model in Afghanistan.<sup>(124)</sup>

Beside the US-Taliban engagement, Pakistan also facilitated an effective dialogue process between Afghan Taliban and the non-Pashtun opposition group, the Northern Alliance of Afghanistan. The senior leadership of both the groups agreed to work together in stabilizing the country. This effort helped make the Afghan peace process inclusive and helped in curtailing disruptive trends among groups.<sup>(125)</sup>

# Af-Pak liaison: A pendulum of need and disbelief

The peace roadmap seems to be drafted by Afghan policymakers, to secure Pakistan's assistance in resolving Afghan problems. Karzai turned to Pakistan for to attaining peace by skilfully manipulating Pakistan. Even Pakistan's help in bringing the negotiating parties together was not received positively. Karzai has expressed his anger over direct contacts between US and Taliban and stalled the development from going further by creating a negative impression of Pakistan. However, what Karzai constantly overlooked was the Taliban reluctance to accept him as a legitimate actor. Pakistan had tried to facilitate dialogue process between the Afghan Government and Taliban. In January 2014, Pakistan along with US asked the Afghan Taliban to start peace talks with the Karzai Government but the Taliban make their own decisions.<sup>(126)</sup> This resistance from Taliban has compelled US and Pakistan to stop counting on Karzai to initiate dialogue, even with the exit deadline approaching. Lately the HPC members have also distanced themselves from Karzai, after the meeting between Taliban and non-Pashtuns.<sup>(127)</sup>

#### An overview of key interests

Key interests of Pakistan in Afghanistan can be briefly outlined as follows;

- A stable and somewhat neutral government in Afghanistan
- Afghan Taliban becoming a part of Afghan political affairs through a power-sharing deal, but preferably not in a dominant position
- A gradual withdrawal of American and international/NATO forces from Afghanistan with a favourable security and financial arrangement in place
- A check on Indian role in Afghanistan, especially in the context of Pakistan's fear of Afghan soil being used to advance strategic designs against Pakistan
- Continuation of American economic and military support to Pakistan for counterinsurgency operations in the country

# Peace initiatives to date with different facilitators

# Saudi initiatives

Saudi relations with the Taliban deteriorated after Mullah Omar refused to comply with his pledge made with Riyadh on handing over Osama bin Laden to the Saudi authorities. Finally, contacts were severed after the 9/11 attacks. Riyadh punished the Taliban by supporting the Karzai Government with reconstruction assistance and direct foreign aid but followed a low-profile approach in Afghanistan until the revival of some interest through two rounds of mediation.

The Karzai Government has twice requested the Saudi Government to mediate with the insurgents. The first time to help counter intensified insurgency since 2006 and the second time after the US announced its troops withdrawal date. In September 2008 and February 2009, the Saudi Government arranged first high-level direct contacts between the Karzai Government, Taliban and Hizb-e-Islami (Gulbuddin Hekmatyar — HIG). Prior to engaging with the Taliban for peace process, Saudi Arabia had asked them to break ties with al-Qaeda. The first round of talks couldn't yield any results because there was no official representation from HIG and Taliban leadership and participants were just former functionaries. The Afghan Government too was indirectly represented through Karzai's elder brother Qayyum Karzai.<sup>(128)</sup>

The second round, chaired by Saudi Intelligence head, Prince Muqrin bin Abdul Aziz, had high-ranking participation. It included Mullah Ahmad Wakil Mutawakil, former foreign minister in the Taliban government; former Taliban ambassador to Pakistan Mullah Abdus Salam Zaeef; Ghairat Bahir, son-in-law of Hekmatyar; Mullah Agha Jan Mutassim, son-in-law of Mullah Omar and former chair of the political committee of the Taliban leadership council from Taliban side. British diplomats were also engaged in this round. During both rounds the Saudi Government offered Mullah Omar and Hekmatyar permanent or temporary sanctuary in Saudi Arabia in case a political resolution of the conflict along with the power-sharing possibility with the Taliban in Afghanistan was achieved.<sup>(129)</sup> However, it was made clear by the Saudis that the Taliban needed to openly distance itself from al-Qaeda, a precondition for any future engagement in peace talks.<sup>(130)</sup>

The Saudi initiatives were appreciated by the international community but were not well received by the Iranian Government who view Saudi role in Afghanistan with Taliban as contentious. The Shia population in Afghanistan and certain Northern Alliance leaders also rejected the meetings.<sup>(131)</sup> The non-Pashtun and Shia groups of Northern Alliance are always suspicious of Saudi involvement and some even reject its involvement in the political settlement of the conflict. Saudi Arabia is seen as an interfering actor rather than a mediator. Even senior leadership of Taliban does not wish Saudis to act as brokers, as they accuse Riyadh of betraying them by aligning with the West. This suggests that Saudi role as a peace broker or facilitator might not bring about much success.

#### **Objectives**

Saudi Arabia's objectives in post-2014 Afghanistan are:

- To establish a unified national government in Kabul so that another civil war can be avoided, even if some elements of Taliban need to be accommodated,
- To keep Iranian influence out of Kabul,
- To isolate al-Qaeda, which is regarded as an arch enemy of the Kingdom,
- Stability of Pakistan<sup>(132)</sup>

#### Saudi Arabia's policy in post-2014 scenario

So far the Saudis have kept a very discreet status in Afghanistan, despite their generous backing to Karzai. The Saudi regime expects to continue keeping a low profile, even in case of a Taliban comeback. They would not prefer to play a leading role in the country. But even from the sidelines they would support Pakistan and certain Taliban elements. Saudi interests lie in splitting of Taliban from al-Qaeda and a stable government in Kabul. More importantly, containing Iranian influence is currently more vital for the Saudi Kingdom than fighting al-Qaeda.

Saudi Arabia though remains an important party to political solution, yet its former and present involvement in Afghanistan limits its role. It would most probably support a settlement behind the scenes, rather than getting openly involved in mediations. Riyadh also has no time pressures and little to risk. Despite Karzai's repeated suggestions of opening a Taliban office in Saudi Arabia, there has been no encouragement by the Saudi Kingdom, at least not openly. A more active role could be assumed by Qatar, which is viewed as a neutral party with no historical baggage of active involvement in Afghanistan. Qatar has already proved to be a more acceptable mediator and facilitator to the negotiating parties.<sup>(133)</sup>

# **Turkey's mediation**

Mediation has become an imperative constituent of Turkish foreign policy. The policymakers in Turkey are ambitiously pursuing mediation between the conflicting parties throughout the world and contributing in building understanding through effective mediation as a means of peace making. One such mediating example is Afghanistan and Pakistan.<sup>(134)</sup>

While Turkey is not geographically connected to either Afghanistan or Pakistan, it is trusted in both the countries. Other than historical, religious and cultural linkages, it shares close bilateral relations with both. Despite being a member of NATO, Turkey restrained from participating in combat operations and chose to remain involved in ensuring security, provided logistical assistance to other foreign forces and trained Afghan security personnel. The noncombat role of Turkey made inroads into the hearts and minds of Afghans. Turkey views its presence in Afghanistan not only in terms of NATO-led security mission but also as a 'brotherhood duty' to assist Afghanistan in restoring peace.<sup>(135)</sup>

# Diplomatic initiatives: Afghanistan-Turkey-Pakistan

Turkey's approach to peace in Afghanistan relied on proposals like reconciliation and restructuring in Afghan society, bridging the gap between Afghanistan and Pakistan, and enhancing regional cooperation between Afghanistan and countries in its neighbourhood. In pursuit of supporting a regional framework, the first step Turkey undertook was to try building trust between Afghanistan and Pakistan. The series of trilateral dialogues between the three countries began to create a political platform for resolving bilateral conflicts between Afghanistan and Pakistan. The first trilateral summit was held in 2007, followed by six more in 2008, 2009, and twice in 2010, 2011, and 2012, at the presidential level.<sup>(136)</sup> The summits concentrated on three areas: high-level political dialogue, security cooperation and development partnership.<sup>(137)</sup> Another significant event was the "Istanbul for Afghanistan" Summit, also known as Istanbul Summit for Friendship and Cooperation in the Heart of Asia. This initiative was launched in November 2011 and brought together all the bordering countries of Afghanistan, with the aim of finding sustainable solutions for Afghanistan's security and stability. The presidential dignitaries of Afghanistan, Pakistan, Turkey and Iran, special representative of the President and the Minister of Foreign Affairs of China, and the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Tajikistan met in Istanbul for the summit, while representatives of the US, UK, Kyrgyzstan, Saudi Arabia, UAE, Russia, France, Italy, Germany, Japan, the UN, EU, and NATO attended as observers.<sup>(138)</sup>

The much appreciated Istanbul Process was significant as it took place shortly after the assassination of HPC head Burhanuddin Rabbani. Turkey established a cooperative mechanism for investigating Rabbani's death, a step welcomed by both Pakistan and Afghanistan along with the wider international community.<sup>(139)</sup>

In December 2011, while visiting Turkey, President Karzai expressed his preference for Turkey to host a liaison office for the Afghan Taliban to facilitate reconciliation. Although Qatar had been chosen as the location for Taliban's office, the possibility of Turkey playing the mediating role between the Taliban and Afghan Government was not ignored.<sup>(140)</sup> Turkey is one country that has maintained very good relations with all the potential parties of Afghan peace process. Interestingly, Turkey has good relations with the Kabul Government, Northern Alliance and even the Taliban when they were in power.

# Interests/objectives

Turkey's approach towards Afghanistan is also based on its own strategic interests that cannot be secured as long as Afghanistan and the region is unstable. Turkey's key interests can be outlined as,

- 1. Fighting terrorism in Afghanistan to bring stability to the region
- 2. Achieve economic gains through expanding trade and commerce <sup>(141)</sup>

#### Turkey in post-2014 Afghanistan

The question of prolonged Turkish presence in Afghanistan after withdrawal date is yet to be tackled. As it stands, Turkey has not made any long-term commitments in a noncombat role in Afghanistan. The decision of pursuing mediation and committing to security cooperation depends on US commitment in Afghanistan beyond 2014. Despite these uncertainties, plus the closure of the Doha office, there might be a chance of a Taliban office opening in Turkey, as it is seen as neutral by the conflicting and negotiating parties in Afghanistan.

## Maldives talks

The representatives of Afghan Government, the non-militant opposition, the Taliban and the HIG also unofficially engaged three times in Maldives. The meetings were held in January, May and November of 2010. The initiative was proposed by Homayoun Jarir, Hekmatyar's son-in-law and his son Feroz represented Hekmatyar as a personal envoy. President Karzai, despite an initial rejection of the initiative, sent personal advisers and observes to all the three rounds of talks. The Taliban were represented through associated parliamentarians and provincial governors. It was reported that a representative of the Haqqani network also attended the third meeting. The talks, privately funded by Afghan business community, were of little significance, but they were seen as a contribution to confidence-building and establishing contacts. The meetings concluded with a declaration to establish a "High National Security Council" which would serve until a ceasefire is reached. The Council would confirm government decisions by two-third majority prior to implementation. It asked the foreign forces to withdraw and end all external intrusion in the peace process as a precondition to the ceasefire. The results of the meetings were to be discussed with the Pakistani and Iranian representatives.(142)

#### Qatar — Taliban's choice

Prior to all the talk initiatives undertaken by the Afghan Government, High Peace Council, and the regional and international parties, the Qatar process was seen as a comparative success. It was for the first time that both the US and Taliban held substantial talks and exchanged their perspectives.

#### **Doha office**

After more than a decade of bloodshed in Afghanistan, long-awaited peace talks were held in Doha, Qatar. But how Qatar came to be the choice for talks by Taliban even though it never recognized the Taliban regime in Afghanistan is an interesting subject. Doha, not a big city, usually hosts about 6,000 Afghan labourers and businessmen. When the Taliban regime was toppled by the US, Taliban leaders looked for refuge in Qatar which was denied as their names came under the sanctions lists of the US and UN. However, some low-ranking Taliban managed to get labour or business visa to travel to Qatar. This led to a gradual increase in numbers and activities of Afghan Taliban figures in Qatar.<sup>(143)</sup>

Taliban representatives arrived secretly in Qatar to hold talks with Western officials, especially with the US which was eager to reach a deal with Taliban in order to secure an honourable exit from Afghanistan. As a confidence-building measure when the Afghan Government and US offered protection to those ready to participate in peace talks these Taliban figures took the chance. Therefore, over the past few years, Taliban representatives from Qatar have begun to hold conferences on Afghanistan in Japan, France, Germany, Iran, to name a few. They represented only Afghan Taliban, the insurgent group led by Mullah Omar.<sup>(144)</sup>

With this background, Qatar was an obvious Taliban choice. Establishing the Doha office was a result of secret talks held between Taliban and US representatives and facilitated by Germany in 2010. During the first contacts between Germany and Taliban, Taliban asked for Qatar to be pulled into talks as they trusted Qatar. Taliban's choice of including Qatar in the talks was a well-thought out decision that fitted their strategy. The reason behind Taliban's choosing of Qatar as a venue was explained on their official website in 2012. First, it's an Islamic country with no border with Afghanistan. This was to ensure that Karzai doesn't use this as a pretext to accuse that Taliban were directed by a neighbouring state like in case of Pakistan. Second, it is a country with no military presence in Afghanistan, unlike Turkey, that has a military presence as a member of NATO. Third, it carries no historical baggage of interference in Afghan affairs and is seen as a neutral state. If an office was to open in Saudi Arabia, its close ties with

Pakistan and support would have raised doubts among Afghan officials. So to create a balance on all sides, the Taliban had selected Qatar.<sup>(145)</sup>

The US was happy with the choice, but Karzai was not. Karzai had wanted the talks to be based in Turkey or Saudi Arabia as they were seen influential and have closer ties with the Afghan Government. Karzai was eventually convinced to give his approval for the office in Qatar, but only on the condition that it would be used only for peace talks with Afghan officials and not for activities like the expansion of Taliban ties with the rest of the world, nor for recruitment and fundraising.<sup>(146)</sup>

# Interests

All the parties involved in supporting or hoping to get something from the talks in Qatar had individual interests as outlined below,

- US: release of its soldier, Sgt. Bergdahl; and a safe exit as part of some sort of deal with the Taliban
- **Taliban**: release of their members from the US prison, reducing their dependence on Pakistan; and international recognition
- Afghan Government: to create distance between the Taliban and Pakistan, and Taliban members to participate in talks with Afghan Peace Council
- **Pakistani Government**: to show that it does not control the Taliban and that they are based in Qatar rather than Pakistan
- **Qatar Government**: for its part, insists on helping, seeking to project itself as the main mediator in a prolonged conflict<sup>(147)</sup>

## Talks

The US and Taliban initiated the talks by placing a set of demands and expectations from each other. Taliban wanted the release of five Taliban heads held by US at Guantanamo Bay in exchange for US Sgt. Bowe Bergdahl held by Taliban since 2009. However, even before talks began they collapsed, first in 2012 when pledges made by both sides couldn't work out. Taliban suspended talks, blaming the US of changing policies when it refused to release prisoners. But it doesn't mean that Taliban were not

interested in holding talks again. As far as talks with the US, Taliban's commitment had credibility because sending a Taliban delegation for talks led by Tayyab Agha to Qatar meant Mullah Omar and Taliban Shura were personally involved.<sup>(148)</sup>

In 2013, the US and Taliban met again. Both sides were more cautious and made efforts to understand each other's position. This time, the talks were suspended by the Karzai Government, on the issue of Taliban's using 'Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan' flag and emblem symbol. Karzai immediately demanded the closure of the office and postponed Peace Council members' visit to meet Taliban. Karzai accused the US of conspiring to divide Afghanistan by undermining his authority and projecting the Taliban as an alternative Afghan government. Karzai insisted that the office should only be used for peace talks with Afghan Peace Council to establish contacts, and later the venue should be moved to Afghanistan. On American demand the Taliban removed the flag, but the Doha office remained closed. No prospects of any new rounds of talks are evident. The matter of holding talks has now become an issue of honour.<sup>(149)</sup> This is frustrating for the international community as the next talks would not be a resumption of the process where it was left but a new process altogether.

### Peace process at present

At present peace in Afghanistan remains a dream to be realised. The need to have a consensus peace deal is imperative, to avoid a return to the civil war. In the context of Afghanistan-Taliban talks, President Karzai has invited the Taliban to the negotiating table and asked them to stop using foreign guns against their own people. He expressed his government's willingness to have contact with Taliban through a political office in Turkey or Saudi Arabia, to kick-start negotiations, but with no compromise on the Constitution of the country and public interest.<sup>(150)</sup> Hence several months after dismissing the Doha process of 2013, Taliban expressed willingness to have indirect mediation, brokered by intermediaries shuttling the between the parties, modelled on the 1989 process of Soviet troops withdrawal. With December 2014 approaching, the Taliban are also prepared for a scenario where no settlement is reached in Afghanistan. But the prospects of talks still haven't been dismissed. The Afghan Taliban leadership is still willing to talk, but the new generation of battlefield commanders opposes the measures and they are getting ready to capture power by shifting the military balance.<sup>(151)</sup>

In January 2014, through reviving secrets contacts, a delegation from Afghanistan's HPC headed by Council head Masoom Stanekzai met in Dubai, UAE, with 16 high ranking Taliban figures led by Agha Jan Mutassim, ex-Taliban finance minister, to lay grounds for peace talks.<sup>(152)</sup>Although where these talks would lead the peace process is yet to be seen.

The Afghan Government submitted a plan to the Pakistani Government, asking for "supporting peace negotiations process, paving the road for talks between the High Peace Council (HPC) and the Taliban, releasing of key Taliban commanders and ensuring the participation of Pakistani religious scholars in the grand meeting of Islamic scholars from the Muslim world". At present, the Afghan Government is taking the peace matter cautiously, not even talking of its pre-conditions with Afghan Taliban. The reason behind this is to promote an inter-Afghan dialogue and with Pakistan's help it wants to make it an Afghan-led process.<sup>(153)</sup>

Pakistan, on its part, released a dozen more Taliban prisoners. The release so far hasn't led to any concessions from Taliban.<sup>(154)</sup> Karzai's visit to Pakistan did not curb apprehensions in Pakistan because as Rahimullah Yousufzai said, no one in Pakistan expects anything substantial from Karzai, as he keeps changing policy on daily basis.<sup>(155)</sup>

Nevertheless, the Pakistani Government appreciated the Dubai talks even though it was an informal contact held between a few groups. It might set a precedent for other groups to join in. Prime Minister's Adviser on National Security and Foreign Affairs Sartaj Aziz hinted at the possibility of Taliban relocating their office in another country. The country will be chosen by the Afghan Government's approval, because for Pakistan, Afghan reconciliation process is more important than the location. Pakistan's commitment is to facilitate the process whether talks are held in Dubai or Istanbul. Although time is running out, and the peace process has to resume sooner than later.<sup>(156)</sup>

All the actors in Afghanistan whether the government, the Taliban, opposition groups, US and Pakistan, appear to be jumbled up with policy options and not clear about

the right direction. Karzai wants to have peace, but on his own conditions. He also worries that US might cut a quick deal with Taliban. Pakistan is worried that Karzai's stubbornness is prolonging the peace process and his indecision about the security pact with US might further destabilise the region. For this reason, Pakistan has currently been trying to engage with the Afghan Taliban and the US while maintaining contacts with Karzai. Pakistan holds that "there is no other option but reconciliation, with or without Karzai. If he continues to be this stubborn, he and his High Peace Council will naturally be sidelined."<sup>(157)</sup>

In this situation, one cannot say for sure how long Afghanistan's harmonious mode with Pakistan will last. After a long troubled relationship full of ups and downs, another rift between the two countries will not be surprising. Just a few months back, Afghan officials had thrown various accusations at Pakistan, from aligning with the US, to promoting a power-sharing plan favourable for Taliban, to controlling the Taliban war in Afghanistan. As recently as March 2013, Karzai's spokesman said that "if we signed a strategic agreement with Pakistan, the Afghan public would stone us to death because they know that the suicide bombers that kill civilians and our armed forces come across from Pakistan."<sup>(158)</sup>

In terms of US-Taliban engagement, there seems to be no contacts between the two after the collapse of the Doha process in 2013. The US has exhausted its resources and forces along with those of its allies in Afghanistan. White House had worked out three possible solutions for resolving the insurgency problem. First, the Alpha solution was to exhaust insurgent Taliban's capacity permanently. This didn't work. The second, the Bravo solution, was to fight back hard through troop surge policy and force them to accept the Afghan Constitution and Government. This also did not work. The third, the Charlie solution, has been a 'no other choice' kind of a compromise, basically for the US to follow. At this stage the US had to accept Taliban as a legitimate entity in Afghanistan that was to be accommodated by accepting their demands and holding talks with them. Hence, it is the third solution that the US has been working on.<sup>(159)</sup>

At this time Americans are disappointed with Karzai. After a lot of persuasion and Karzai's reluctance to sign the security agreement about post-2014 Afghanistan's security, Karzai has become irrelevant to the United States. Subsequently, Karzai's decision has caused frustration at the White House and Pentagon. Washington has adopted a position of its own, to engage with the new Afghan president after April elections this year. A senior US official remarked: "If he's (Karzai) not going to be part of the solution, we have to have a way to get past him." It's a pragmatic recognition that clearly Karzai may not sign (the deal) and that he doesn't represent the voice of the Afghan people.<sup>(160)</sup>

But outfoxing Karzai does not resolve US concerns. It has created further complications for Washington. Washington will have to wait for the elections, if the transfer of power occurs peacefully, it will be a very big development. But this might be too optimistic since the Taliban refuse to accept the Afghan Constitution and the electoral process. There are already too many questions regarding the elections, one of which is Karzai's willingness to let go of power as planned. Moreover, if the new successor takes power, deciding new terms for relations between US-Afghanistan would be too exhausting. This would mean the talks about peace and security deal might start some time in the second half of 2014. Nevertheless, whatever the situation is, if the new president agrees on signing the pact, the US will retain its presence and assist in peace talks, otherwise there is already talk of a complete withdrawal by the end of 2014.<sup>(161)</sup>

# Conclusion

Afghanistan's struggle for peace seems to predate history. Despite the peace efforts, the year 2014 doesn't seem to offer much hope for the Afghan people. Reconciliation talks with the Afghan Taliban continue, but the question that remains is, whether these talks have the potential to bring all factions on the same page or would they remain merely symbolic. Each actor involved in the peace process holds diverging interests and has conflicting understanding of the peace strategy. The related countries are committed to play their roles, to assist the peace process; yet, their individual national interests often overlap and are prioritised. One thing that all actors involved in the peace process share, is the realization that the insurgency cannot be tackled and wiped off militarily. But Afghanistan is unlikely to have peace unless they all, including the Afghan Government, agree on one common interest.

The peace process has been held hostage to individual gains of the stakeholders. Karzai seems to be more concerned about the chief position he aspires to have and to own the process than the actual success of the process. Moreover, the policies Karzai wants to pursue place the onus on Pakistan's efforts, rather than on his own diplomatic skills. The truth is, Pakistan's previous policy of having 'strategic depth' to get an edge in Afghanistan over India is a lost cause.

No country other than Pakistan has more at stake, and Pakistan stands to be affected adversely from escalation in militancy, refugee influx and other perils of rising insecurity in Afghanistan. Pakistan is perceived to have influence on the Afghan Taliban and this perception leads to official pressure on Pakistan from the Afghan side. However, the extent of Pakistan's influence on Afghan Taliban may be overly exaggerated. Even though Pakistan managed to persuade the US and convince the Taliban into softening their policies towards each other on the matter of peace initiative. It was Pakistan's diplomatic skill that worked, in addition to the fact that both the US and Taliban were already ready to hold talks with each other.

On the other side, in Pakistan there seems to be an understanding that the Afghan Taliban are fighting against foreign occupation. Other than this, in their actions they are independent of Pakistan's influence,<sup>(162)</sup> Pakistan may be in a position to exert some influence at times, but definitely cannot control them at all times. As their track record shows, the Taliban are not a group that easily accepts dictation from anyone. There also have been instances of the Afghan Taliban being caught and imprisoned in Pakistan, leading to a high level of mistrust.

So far, there haven't been any serious talks between Karzai and Taliban, despite claims made by the Karzai administration. The talks initiated by Karzai, have been low-level ones. Taliban still haven't accepted the legitimacy of the Karzai regime and have expressed no intention to do so. All channels utilized by Karzai, ranging from Afghan Peace Council to commanders from Taliban's tribe, from Pakistan to Saudi Arabia, have only exposed Karzai as a powerless figure.<sup>(163)</sup>

The powersharing deal offered to Taliban by Karzai, even if acceptable to a certain degree for Washington and Islamabad, seems unmanageable. It is not in the nature of Taliban to share power and authority.<sup>(164)</sup> Although they might welcome a constitutionally cemented power arrangement, if it guarantees them a significant role in the Afghan administration.<sup>(165)</sup>

Currently, the US seems to be pursuing a policy of urgent dignified exit. However, despite a decade-long presence in Afghanistan, the US has not been able to transform it from a failed state to a stable one. The best time for engaging the Taliban was not in the past few years after setting the withdrawal date, but from day one. The security agreement being pushed by the United States has so far been rejected by the Karzai administration. Perhaps one reason for his refusal is that the US at present doesn't consult or inform him of its moves in Afghanistan. Signing the pact would accord it freedom and legitimise the actions it takes on its own without taking the Afghan administration in confidence.<sup>(166)</sup> Beyond this, Americans don't have a grand strategy of turning Afghan fate, but they are simply poised to safeguard their past efforts and strategic interests.

There have been lot of apprehensions about Karzai and US over their way of dealing with the Afghan crisis and the peace prospects among Afghans. Even the Peace Council officials felt disappointed by Karzai's refusal to sign the security pact with the US, because when the new regime will eventually sign it, that will be quick and without a reasonable perspective of the overall ground realities for future security. However, most apprehensions are kept private. No one dares say in public that the Afghan Government might collapse. No one voices the fact that the rights of Afghan women might be sacrificed in any future settlement with the Taliban, in the name of bringing peace and stability to the country.

Accommodating the Taliban through a legitimate process is only possible through constitutional amendment, making the system less Kabul-centric. A multi-tiered process of an inclusive, comprehensive nature where all Afghan factions are represented in some key roles or positions is mainly looked upon. The role of regional and international interested parties is made obligatory in brokering the deal but through working from outside, from Afghan government perspective. Pakistan's window of opportunity with the incoming Afghan regime should be to avoid falling back into Indiacentric policy and play a more constructive role through socio-economic cooperation for ensuring a peaceful, stable and prosperous Afghanistan.

The Afghan Government needs to prepare for both best- and worst-case scenarios post 2014, i.e. a peace settlement or at least some understanding regarding the peace agreement among the negotiating parties or no agreement at all. After transition, Afghanistan may either struggle with a weak political setup and a divided state or at worst could fall back into another episode of civil war. Due to some domestic and international interests, more than a decade of Western assistance has proved to be unsuccessful in producing a stable, strong and viable central government. In any situation, Afghanistan has to be prevented from falling into the hands of rogue, terrorist elements like al-Qaeda. Moving towards sustainable peace requires patience and a more comprehensive and inclusive approach. Consultations have to be held among all stakeholders, including the administration, civil society and key opponents. An effective consensus among the regional countries is essential when engaging with the Afghan government.

Hence, the importance of signing the security agreement with US, followed by with NATO, has repeatedly been highlighted by various domestic and international actors. Although the Afghan security forces over time have been growing in numbers and capabilities, yet they are committed to prove to their people to be a responsible force by gradually taking over and carrying out a series of security operations independently. The Afghan forces are even maintaining security in areas where they gained lead. Still it would be a mistake to underestimate the striking muscles of insurgent Taliban.<sup>(167)</sup> There are still too many challenges which they are not yet ready to tackle on their own without foreign support. The International Security Assistance force continues to help develop the capabilities of the Afghan security forces to enable them to fill the critical gaps that would remain even after the ISAF mission ends by the end of 2014. These key capability

developing areas include; air support; intelligence enterprise; special operations; and Afghan security ministry capacity.<sup>(168)</sup>

Of all the above mentioned skills, one critical need is the continuous flow of international funding and coalition force assistance to sustain the Afghan forces beyond 2014. However, challenging uncertainties remain because of delay in finalizing any future security agreement with the international partners. Taliban have already capitalized on the absence of any such agreement and that makes Afghans apprehensive. Another critical necessity still lacking after so many years of coalition assistance is an effective and sustainable system for Afghan forces along with the lack of accountability mechanism and weak rule of law that hitches efforts of Afghan forces in building a secure environment.<sup>(169)</sup> The Afghan forces have proved they can fight, yet that is the result of twelve years of training and foreign assistance at the institutional level, from advise to training is still very much needed so that whatever capabilities they have accomplished becomes maintainable over time. Hence, the BSA remains crucial to the post-2014 scenario.<sup>(170)</sup>

Hence, despite the measures taken to accelerate the peace process, the completion of the process is not possible in 2014. Three significant issues will dominate the year 2014, including, the presidential elections, Bilateral Security Agreement between the new Afghan government and the US, and the international forces' withdrawal. No matter what the circumstances hold for Afghanistan post-2014, one thing is clear, the Taliban do not enjoy popular support to the extent generally suspected. Furthermore, even if the current peace efforts fail to bring respite to the Afghan people, these efforts will be pursued resolutely, likely with international and regional support. Failure of the Afghan peace process has not been an option considered by any country involved, as peace is the only saviour.

Postcript — 15 May 2014 Update:

The enthusiastic way Afghan people participated in the 5 April Presidential election <sup>(I)</sup> (overall turnout 58 per cent,<sup>(II)</sup>) women's turnout 35 per cent,<sup>(III)</sup>) was a show of defiance of the Taliban. They thronged polling stations despite threats to their lives.<sup>(IV)</sup> Another hopeful signal came in the fact that they transcended the ethnic divides by voting Dr. Abdullah Abdullah — a Tajik from maternal and Pashtun from paternal side and candidate of the National Coalition of Afghanistan, an entity that stands for the transformed (2011) Northern Alliance — into the lead.<sup>(V)</sup> No doubt the Afghans have surprised the whole world with their determination and maturity.

- "IEC announces final Presidential Election results, sets date for Run-Off", Independent Election Commission of Afghanistan, <a href="http://www.iec.org.af/media-section/press-releases/366-final-results">http://www.iec.org.af/media-section/press-releases/366-final-results</a>.
- II. Amir Shah and Mirwais Khan, "Afghanistan Presidential Election: High turnout amid threats of Violence", *The World Post*, 06 April 2014, <a href="http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/04/05/afghanistan-presidentialelection\_n\_5096299.html">http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/04/05/afghanistan-presidentialelection\_n\_5096299.html</a>>
- III. "Massive turnout for Afghanistan's historic elections", Tolo News, 06 April 2014, <a href="http://www.tolonews.com/elections2014/massive-turnout-afghanistans-historic-elections">http://www.tolonews.com/elections2014/massive-turnout-afghanistans-historic-elections></a>
- IV. Ibid.
- V. Op.cit., (ref. I).

# **Notes and References**

- Alisa J. Rubin, "Departing Frenchy Envoy Has Frank Words on Afghanistan," *The News York Times*, 28 April 2013 <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html?\_r=0>">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/28/world//asia/bernard-bajolet-leaving-afghanistan-has-his-say.html</a>
- 2. Micheal Barnett et al., "Peace Building: What Is In A Name?," *Global Governance*, 13 (2007): 35-38.
- 3. Catherine Morris, "What Is Peacebuilding? One Definition," *Peacemakers*, 2013, <a href="http://www.peacemakers.ca/publications/peacebuildingdefinition.html">http://www.peacemakers.ca/publications/peacebuildingdefinition.html</a>>.

- Harold H. Saunders, "Prenegotiation And Circum-Negotiation: Arenas Of The Multilevel Peace Process," *Turbulent Peace*, 2001, 483.
- 5. Charles Lerche, "Peace Building Through Reconciliation," *The International Journal Of Peace Studies* 5, 2 (Autunm/ Winter 2002).
- 6. James Pugel, "Measuring reintegration in Liberia: Assessing the gap between Outputs and Outcomes", in *Security and Post-Conflict Reconstruction: Dealing with Fighters in the Aftermath of War*, ed. Robert Muggah, (New York: Routledge, 2009), 78.
- Robert D. Crews, "Moderate Taliban," in *The Taliban And The Crisis Of Afghanistan*, ed. Robert D. Crews and Amin Tarzi, (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2008), 241–242.
- 8. Ibid, 242.
- 9. Amin Tarzi, "The Neo-Taliban," in *The Taliban and the Crisis of Afghanistan*, ibid., 304.
- 10. Ibid, 309.
- 11. Ibid, 306.
- 12. Ibid, 310.
- 13. Antonio Giustozzi, "Koran, Kalashinkov and Laptop: The Neo-Taliban Insurgency in Afghanistan", London: Hurst & Company, 2007, 12-14)
- 14. Op.cit., (ref. 9), 310.
- Amin Saikal, Ravan Farhadi and Kirill Nourzhanov, "US Intervention and the Karzai Era" in *Modern Afghanistan: A History of Struggle and Survival*, (London: I. B. Tauris & Co Ltd., 2004), 266-267.
- 16. Jeffrey Pressler and Carl Frosberg, "The Quetta Shura Taliban" in Southern Afghanistan: Organization, Operations and Shadow Governance, (Institute for the Study of War, 21 December 2009,) <a href="http://www.understandingwar.org/sites/default/files/QuettaShuraTaliban\_1.pdf">http://www.understandingwar.org/sites/default/files/QuettaShuraTaliban\_1.pdf</a>>.
- 17. James Shinn and James Dobbin, Afghan Peace Talks: A Primer, (RAND, 2014).

- Jeffrey A. Dressler, "The Haqqani Network: From Pakistan to Afghanistan", in *Afghanistan Report 6*, (The Institute for the Study of War, October 2010), <http://www.understandingwar.org/sites/default/files/Haqqani\_Network\_0. pdf>.
- Mark E. Checchia, *The Mansur Network*, (Civil Military Fusion Centre, January 2012), <a href="https://www.cimicweb.org/cmo/afg/Documents/Afghanistan">https://www.cimicweb.org/cmo/afg/Documents/Afghanistan</a> RDPs/CFC Afghanistan Mansur-Network Jan12.pdf>.
- 20. Talatbek Masadykov, Antonio Giustozzi and James Michael Page, "Negotiating with the Taliban: Toward a Solution for the Afghan Conflict," in *Crisis States Working Papers*, Series No.2, *Working Paper No. 66*, (Crisis States Research Centre), 4.
- Nils Wörmer, Exploratory Talks And Peace Initiatives in Afghanistan, (StiftungWissenschaft und Politik, 2012), <a href="http://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/comments/2012C44\_wmr.pdf">http://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/comments/2012C44\_wmr.pdf</a>>.
- 22. Shinn and Dobbing, op.cit., (ref.17), 24.
- 23. Wörmer, op.cit., (ref.21).
- 24. Shinn and Dobbin, op.cit., (ref.17), 24.
- 25. Ashish Kumar Sen, "Haqqani Network Talks Peace But Continue Attacks In Afghanistan," *The Washington Times*, 13 November 2012, <a href="http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2012/nov/13/haqqani-network-talks-peace-attacks-afghanistan/">http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2012/nov/13/haqqani-network-talks-peace-attacks-afghanistan/</a>>.
- 26. Wormer, op.cit., 21.
- 27. Dr. Hasan Askari Rizvi, "Pakistan And Afghanistan's Changing Bilateral Relations," IPRI, Journal, (Islamabad: *Islamabad Policy Research Institute*, 2013, 83-84.
- 28. Afghanistan Mission to the UN in New York, "Transcript of the Speech Delivered by President Hamid Karzai in the Traditional Loya Jirga, 16 November 2011, <a href="http://www.afghanistan-un.org/2011/11/transcript-of-the-speech-delivered-by-president-hamid-karzai-in-the-traditional-loya-jirga/">http://www.afghanistan-un.org/2011/11/transcript-of-the-speechdelivered-by-president-hamid-karzai-in-the-traditional-loya-jirga/</a>>
- 29. Damien McElroy, "US Let Taliban Come Back From Defeat, Says Top Envoy," *The Telegraph*, 1<sup>st</sup> of November 2013, <a href="http://www.telegraph.co.uk/">http://www.telegraph.co.uk/</a>

news/worldnews/ asia/afghanistan/10420785/US-let-Taliban-come-back-from-defeat-says-top-envoy.html>.

- "President Karzai's Inauguration Speech," Afghanistan Mission to the UN in New York, 2009, <a href="http://www.afghanistan-un.org/2009/11/president-karzai%">http://www.afghanistan-un.org/2009/11/president-karzai%</a> E2%80%99s-inauguration-speech/>.
- Robert D. Lamb, Mehlaqa Samdani and Justine Fleischner, "Afghanistan's National Consultative Peace Jirga," *Centre of Strategic and International Studies*, 27 May 2010, <a href="http://csis.org/publications/afghanistans-national-consultative-peace-jirga-0">http://csis.org/publications/afghanistans-nationalconsultative-peace-jirga-0</a>>.
- 32. Ann-Kristin Otto, "Peace Jirga on Reconciliation and Reintegration," Afghanistan Developments in Justice & Reconciliation, Civil Military Fusion Centre, Issue 05/10, 10 June 2010, <a href="http://www.operationspaix.net/">http://www.operationspaix.net/</a> DATA/DOCUMENT/6346~v~Afghanistan\_Developments\_in\_Justice \_\_\_\_\_Reconciliation\_Peace\_Jirga\_on\_Reconciliation\_May\_2010.pdf>.
- Caroline Wadhams, 'Afghanistan's Fluffy Peace Jirga', Foreign Policy, 2010, <a href="http://southasia.foreignpolicy.com/posts/2010/06/04/afghanistans\_fluffy\_peace\_jirga>">http://southasia.foreignpolicy.com/posts/2010/06/04/afghanistans\_fluffy\_peace\_jirga></a>.
- 34. Richard Weitz, "The Peace Jirga", *The National Interest*, 4 June 2010, <a href="http://nationalinterest.org/commentary/the-peace-jirga-3603?page=show">http://nationalinterest.org/commentary/the-peace-jirga-3603?page=show</a>>.
- 35. Matt Waldman, "Golden Surrender?," *Afghanistan Analysts Network*, 2010, <www.afghanistan-analysts.net/uploads/2010\_AAN\_ Golden\_Surrender.pdf>.
- Joanna Nathan, "A Review of Reconciliation Efforts in Afghanistan," CTC Sentinel, August 2009, Vol.2, Issue 8.
- 37. Waldman, op.cit., (ref.35).
- 38. Otto, op.cit., (ref.32).
- 39. Afghanistan-un.org, "The Resolution Adopted at the Conclusion of the National Consultative Peace Jirga," Afghanistan Mission To The UN In New York," 10 June 2010, <a href="http://www.afghanistan-un.org/2010/06/the-resolution-adopted-at-the-conclusion-of-the-national-consultative-peace-jirga/>.</a>
- 40. Ibid.

- 41. The UN Security Council Resolution 1267, first established on 15 October 1999, blacklisted 142 Taliban figures also 360 others associated with al-Qaeda. The resolution seized their financial assets and economic resources and prohibited them from travelling internationally, <a href="http://www.un.org/sc/">http://www.un.org/sc/</a> committees/1267/>
- 42. Weitz, op.cit., (ref.34).
- Isaf.nato.int, "APRP|ISAF International Security Assistance Force," <a href="http://www.isaf.nato.int/subordinate-commands/afghanistan-peace-and-reintegration-program/index.php">http://www.isaf.nato.int/subordinate-commands/afghanistan-peace-and-reintegration-program/index.php</a>>.
- 44. Unama.unmissions.org, "Kabul Conference," 2010, <a href="http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=12279&language=en-US">http://unama.unmissions.org/Default.aspx?tabid=12279&language=en-US</a>.
- 45. Mohammad Masoom Stanekzai, "Peace, Reconciliation And Reintegration In Afghanistan: Challenges And Milestones Facing Peace Talks, Transition And Stability In The Region," in *Afghanistan In Transition: Beyond 2014?*, ed. Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (Singapore: Pentagon Press: 2014), 42.
- 46. Thomas Ruttig, "The ex-Taliban on the High Peace Council," Afghanistan Analysts Network, Discussion Paper 04/2010, <a href="http://www.afghanistananalysts.org/wp-content/uploads/">http://www.afghanistananalysts.org/wp-content/uploads/</a> downloads/2012/10/20101020TRuttig\_ExT\_in\_HPC.pdf>.
- 47. Stephen Manual, "Salahuddin named head of High Peace Council," *All Voices*,
  14 April 2012, <a href="http://www.allvoices.com/contributed-news/11934889-">http://www.allvoices.com/contributed-news/11934889-</a>
- salahuddin-rabbani-named-head-of-high-peace-council>.48. Stanekzai, op.cit., (ref.45), 43-44.
- 49. Ibid., 45.
- ------
- 50. Ibid, 44.
- 51. Isaf.nato.int, op.cit., (ref.43).
- 52. Stanekzai, op.cit., (ref.45), 45.
- 53. Thomas Ruttig, "Afghan Reactions to the High Peace Council," Afghanistan Analysts Network, 14 October 2010, <a href="http://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/afghan-reactions-to-the-high-peace-council">http://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/afghan-reactions-to-the-high-peace-council</a>.
- 54. Ibid.

- 55. Haroon Siddique, "Afghanistan expels Briton accused of Taliban talks," *The Guardian*, 26 December 2007, <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/uk/2007/dec/26/politics.world">http://www.theguardian.com/uk/2007/dec/26/politics.world</a>.
- 56. Vaishnavi Chandrashekhar, "Two Senior Diplomats expelled from Afghanistan," The Christian Science Monitor, 27 December 2007, <a href="http://www.csmonitor.com/2007/1227/p99s01-duts.html">http://www.csmonitor.com/2007/1227/p99s01-duts.html</a>.
- 57. Maleeha Lodhi, "Karzai Fears Political Irrelevance," *The Sunday Guardian*, <a href="http://www.sunday-guardian.com/analysis/karzai-fears-political-irrelevance">http://www.sunday-guardian.com/analysis/karzai-fears-political-irrelevance</a>>.
- 58. Dylan Welch and Hamid Shalizi, "Karzai Announces Peace Talks As Afghans Take Over Security," Reuters, 18 June 2013, <a href="http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/06/18/us-afghanistan-peace-idUSBRE95H05Y20130618">http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/06/18/us-afghanistan-peace-idUSBRE95H05Y20130618</a>>.
- Kathy Gannon, "Taliban peace talks flounder as troops draw down," *Yahoo News*, 3 February 2013, <a href="http://news.yahoo.com/taliban-peace-talks-flounder-troops-draw-down-234319711.html">http://news.yahoo.com/taliban-peace-talks-flounder-troops-draw-down-234319711.html</a>>.
- 60. Yochi Dreazen, "Gates: US tried to Oust Karzai in Failed Putsch," Foreign Policy, 9 January 2014, <a href="http://thecable.foreignpolicy.com/">http://thecable.foreignpolicy.com/</a> posts/2014/01/09/gates\_us\_tried\_ to\_oust\_karzai\_in\_clumsy\_putsch>.
- 61. Laura King, "Afghan leader Karzai calls for Taliban 'brothers' to bargain, not bomb," *Los Angeles Times*, 17 April 2012, <a href="http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/world\_now/2012/04/hamid-karzai-afghanistan-taliban-attacks.html">http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/world\_now/2012/04/hamid-karzai-afghanistan-taliban-attacks.html</a>>.
- 62. "Afghanistan-US deal hinges on Taliban peace talks," *BBC News*, 25 January 2014, <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-25893296">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-25893296</a>>.
- 63. Ibid.
- 64. James Dobbins and James Shinn, "Afghanistan: Guidelines for a Peace Process," *Survival: Global Politics and Strategy*, volume 53, iss 4 (2011), 5-6.
- Masood Korosh, "Cancerous Approach towards Peace Talks," *Daily Outlook Afghanistan*, 24 April 2012, <a href="http://outlookafghanistan.net/topics.php?">http://outlookafghanistan.net/topics.php?</a> post\_id=4065>.
- 66. Ibid.

- 67. Shinn and Dobbing, op.cit., (ref.17), 31.
- 68. Ibid., 21.
- 69. Korosh, op.cit., (ref.65).
- 70. Crews, op.cit., (ref. 7), 240.
- 71. Matt Waldman and Thomas Ruttig, "Peace Offerings: Theories of Conflict Resolution and their applicability to Afghanistan," Afghanistan Analysts Network, Discussion paper No. 1, January 2011, <http://www.operationspaix.net/DATA/DOCUMENT/4360~v~Peace\_ Offerings\_Theories\_of\_Conflict\_Resolution\_and\_Their\_Applicability\_to\_Afgh anistan.pdf>.
- "High Peace Council, Peace Process Roadmap to 2015," Foreign Policy, 2012,
   <www.foreignpolicy.com/files/</li>
  - 121213\_Peace\_Process\_Roadmap\_to\_2015.pdf>.
- 73. Waldman and Ruttig, op.cit., (ref.71).
- 74. Masadykov, op.cit., (ref.20), 11.
- 75. Emma Graham-Harrison, "Taliban urge Afghan president Hamid Karzai to reject US security deal," *The Guardian*, 2 December 2013, <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/dec/02/taliban-hamid-karzai-us-security-deal">http://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/dec/02/taliban-hamid-karzai-us-security-deal</a>.
- Yaroslav Trofimov, "Taliban Exploit Karzai's Rift with the US," *The Wall Street Journal*, 30 January 2014, <a href="http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB20001424052702304428004579350592183403828">http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB20001424052702304428004579350592183403828</a>>.
- 77. Vanda Felbab-Brown, 'The Political Games in the Taliban Negotiations", The Brookings Institution, 19 June 2013, <a href="http://www.brookings.edu/research/articles/2013/06/19-taliban-negotiations-after-karzai-suspends-peace-talks-with-us-felbabbrown">http://www.brookings.edu/research/articles/2013/06/19-taliban-negotiations-after-karzai-suspends-peace-talks-with-us-felbabbrown</a>.
- 78. Bill Roggio, "Karzai Gambles with the Taliban," *The Daily Beast*, 28 January 2014, <http://www.thedailybeast.com/articles/ 2014/01/28/karzai-gambles-with-the-taliban.html>.

- An Interview with Salma Malik, Assistant Professor, Department of Defence & Strategic Studies (DSS), Quaid-e-Azam University, Islamabad.
- Special Correspondent, "Afghan peace lies in US, Pak hands: Karzai," *The Nation*, Islamabad, 26 January 2014, <a href="http://www.nation.com.pk/national/26-Jan-2014/afghan-peace-lies-in-us-pak-hands-karzai">http://www.nation.com.pk/national/26-Jan-2014/afghan-peace-lies-in-us-pak-hands-karzai</a>>.
- 81. United States Committee on Foreign Relations, "Foreign Relations Committee Releases Comprehensive Report on Central Asia and the Transition in Afghanistan," 19 December 2011, <a href="http://www.foreign.senate.gov/press/chair/release/foreign-relations-committee-releases-comprehensive-report-on-central-asia-and-the-transition-in-afghanistan>.</a>
- 82. Allen Ruff, "Operation Enduring America: The US in Central Asia after Afghanistan," 31 December 2013, <a href="http://warisacrime.org/content/">http://warisacrime.org/content/</a> %E2%80%9Coperation-enduring-america%E2%80%9D-us-central-asia-afterafghanistan>.
- 83. Shinn and Dobbin, op.cit., (ref.17), 48.
- 84. Salma Malik, op.cit., (ref.79).
- 85. "The Afghan Peace Process | Spearhead Research Pakistan," 27 December 2012, <a href="http://spearheadresearch.org/SR\_CMS/index.php/tag/the-afghan-peace-process.">http://spearheadresearch.org/SR\_CMS/index.php/tag/the-afghan-peace-process.</a>
- 86. Lamb, op.cit., (ref. 31).
- 87. US Military Joint Publication (see FN 1), p VI 20
- 88. Waldman, op.cit., (ref.35).
- 89. Shinn and Dobbin, op.cit., (ref.17), 12.
- M. K. Bhadrakumar, "A Fatal flaw in Afghan peace process," *Asia Times*, 08 October 2008, <a href="http://www.atimes.com/atimes/South\_Asia/JJ08Df03.html">http://www.atimes.com/atimes/South\_Asia/JJ08Df03.html</a>>.
- 91. Shinn and Dobbin, op.cit., (ref.17), 13.
- 92. "10 Facts about US Withdrawal from Afghanistan", *Countdown to Drawdown*, <a href="http://www.countdowntodrawdown.org/facts.php">http://www.countdowntodrawdown.org/facts.php</a>>.
- 93. Sen, op.cit., (ref. 25).
- 94. Ibid.

- 95. Salma Malik, op.cit., (ref.79).
- 96. "Haqqanis Will Not Talk Afghan Peace Alone: Commander," *The Express Tribune*, Islamabad, 25 October 2011, <a href="http://tribune.com.pk/story/281595/haqqanis-will-not-talk-afghan-peace-alone-commander/">http://tribune.com.pk/story/281595/haqqanis-will-not-talk-afghan-peace-alone-commander/</a>.
- 97. "Clinton confirms US outreach to Pakistan's Haqqani network," Al Arabiya News, 22 October 2011, <a href="http://www.alarabiya.net/articles/2011/10/22/173021.html">http://www.alarabiya.net/articles/2011/10/22/173021.html</a>.
- 98. Nathan, op.cit., (ref.36).
- 99. Chris Zambelis, "Negotiating an Endgame in Afghanistan: Qatar Hosts the Taliban," *Terrorism Monitor*, Vol. 10, Issue (4), 23 February 2012.
- David S. Cloud, Hashmat Baktash and Kathleen Hennessey, "Obama calls US-Taliban talks agreement important first step," *Los Angeles Times*, 18 June 2013, <a href="http://articles.latimes.com/2013/jun/18/world/la-fg-afghan-taliban-talks-20130619">http://articles.latimes.com/2013/jun/18/world/la-fg-afghan-taliban-talks-20130619</a>>.
- 101. "Taliban offers to free US soldier for five Guantanamo Bay Prisoners," *Daily News*, 20 June 2013, <a href="http://www.nydailynews.com/news/world/taliban-offers-free-u-s-soldier-article-1.1377699">http://www.nydailynews.com/news/world/taliban-offers-free-u-s-soldier-article-1.1377699</a>>.
- 102. Zambelis, op.cit., (ref.99).
- 103. Maleeha Lodhi, op.cit., (ref.57).
- 104. Ibid.
- 105. Ibid.
- 106. Tahir Khan, "Reconciliation Struggle: FO distances itself from anti-Karzai remarks," *The Express Tribune*, 26 March 2013, <a href="http://tribune.com.pk/story/526561/reconciliation-struggle-fo-distances-itself-from-anti-karzairemarks/>.</a>
- 107. Op.cit., (ref. 85).
- 108. Ibid.
- 109. Shinn and Dobbin, op.cit., (ref.17), 41.
- 110. Lydia Polgreen, "Karzai tries to Soothe Pakistan over Warmer Relations with India", *The New York Times*, 5 October 2011, <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/">http://www.nytimes.com/</a>

2011/10/06/world/asia/karzai-tries-to-soothe-pakistan-over-warmer-relations-with-india.html?\_r=0>.

 C. Raja Mohan, Caroline Wadhams, Wilson John, Aryaman Bhatnagar, Daniel Rubin, and Peter Juul, "Toward Convergence: An Agenda for US-India Cooperation in Afghanistan," *Centre for American Progress*, May 2013, <a href="http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-">http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-</a>

content/uploads/2013/06/IndiaAfghanistan Report-INTRO.pdf>.

- 112. Larry Hanauer and Peter Chalk, "India's and Pakistan's Strategies in Afghanistan: Implications for the United States and the Region," Centre for Asia Pacific Policy, 2012, <a href="http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/">http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/</a> occasional\_papers/2012/RAND\_OP387.pdf>.
- 113. Ibid.
- 114. Manish Chand, "Hamid Karzai's 14th visit to Delhi: A New Role for India," Indian Ministry of External Affairs, 11 December 2013, <a href="http://mea.gov.in/articles-in-indian-media.htm?dtl/22607/Hamid+Karzais+14th+visit+to+Delhi+A+new+role+for+India">http://mea.gov.in/articles-in-indian-media.htm?dtl/22607/Hamid+Karzais+14th+visit+to+Delhi+A+new+role+for+India</a>.
- 115. Ayesha Azhar, "What support for Modi as PM means," *The Express Tribune*, 20 August 2013, <a href="http://tribune.com.pk/story/592765/what-support-for-modi-as-pm-means/">http://tribune.com.pk/story/592765/what-support-for-modi-as-pm-means/</a>.
- 116. op.cit., (ref.72).
- 117. Ibid.
- 118. Asif Mahmood, "Baradar met Afghan Delegation in Islamabad", *Dawn News*, 22 November 2013, <a href="http://www.dawn.com/news/1057865/baradar-met-afghan-peace-delegation-in-islamabad-officials">http://www.dawn.com/news/1057865/baradar-met-afghan-peace-delegation-in-islamabad-officials</a>>
- 119. Kamran Yousaf, "Indefinite suspension: Pakistan stops release of Afghan Taliban prisoners", *The Express Tribune*, 15 April 2013, <a href="http://tribune.com.pk/story/535710/indefinite-suspension-pakistan-stops-release-of-afghan-taliban-prisoners/">http://tribune.com.pk/story/535710/indefinite-suspension-pakistan-stops-release-of-afghan-taliban-prisoners/</a>>.

- 120. Asif Mahmood, "Baradar met Afghan peace delegation in Islamabad: Officials," Dawn, Karachi, 22 November 2013, <a href="http://www.dawn.com/news/1057865/baradar-met-afghan-peace-delegation-in-islamabad-officials">http://www.dawn.com/news/1057865/baradar-met-afghan-peace-delegation-in-islamabad-officials</a>.
- 121. Mehreen Zahra-Malik, "Pakistan sees Afghanistan's Karzai as obstacle to peace with Taliban", 24 March 2013, <a href="http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/03/24/us-pakistan-afghanistan-idUSBRE92N0KJ20130324">http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/03/24/us-pakistan-afghanistan-idUSBRE92N0KJ20130324</a>>.
- 122. Syed Talat Hussain, "Afghan revelations: Pakistan-US secret diplomacy created Doha roadmap," *The Express Tribune*, 20 June 2013, <http://tribune.com.pk/story/565809/afghan-revelations-pakistan-us-secretdiplomacy-created-doha-roadmap/>.
- 123. Ibid.
- 124. Ibid.
- 125. Ibid.
- 126. Hafizullah Gardesh, "Islamabad Accused of Interfering in Afghan Peace Talks," Institute of War and Peace Reporting, 7 February 2014, <a href="http://iwpr.net/report-news/islamabad-accused-interfering-afghan-peace-talks">http://iwpr.net/report-news/islamabad-accused-interfering-afghan-peace-talks</a>.
- 127. Hussain, op.cit., (ref.122).
- 128. Wörmer, op.cit., (ref. 23).
- 129. Ibid.
- 130. Dr. Guido Steinberg and Nils Woermer, "Exploring Iran & Saudi Arabia's Interests in Afghanistan & Pakistan: Stakeholders or Spoilers – A Zero Sum Game? Part1: Saudi Arabia," SWP, April 2013, <a href="http://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/">http://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/</a>

fachpublikationen/Steinberg\_Woermer\_Saudirabia\_Interest\_April2013.pdf>.

- 131. Wörmer, op.cit., (ref. 23).
- 132. Steinberg and Woermer, op.cit., (ref.130).
- 133. Ibid.
- 134. Bülent Aras, "Turkey's Mediation and Friends of Mediation Initiative," International Policy and Leadership Institute, Turkey Policy Brief Series, Sixth Edition, 2012.

- 135. Karen Kaya, "Turkey's Role in Afghanistan and Afghan Stabilization," *Military Review*, July-August 2013, <a href="http://usacac.army.mil/CAC2/MilitaryReview/Archives/English/MilitaryReview\_20130831\_art007.pdf">http://usacac.army.mil/CAC2/MilitaryReview/Archives/English/MilitaryReview\_20130831\_art007.pdf</a>>.
- 136. Aras, op.cit., (ref. 134).
- 137. Kaya, op.cit., (ref.135).
- 138. Ibid.
- 139. Aras, op.cit., (ref. 134).
- 140. Kaya, op.cit., (ref.135).
- 141. Ibid.
- 142. Wörmer, op.cit., (ref. 23).
- 143. "How Qatar came to host the Taliban", BBC News, 21 June 2013, <a href="http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-23007401">http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-23007401</a>>.
- 144. Ibid.
- 145. Kamran Yousaf, "Peace in Afghanistan: Islamabad, Washington seek alternatives to Doha process," *The Express Tribune*, 5 August 2013, <http://tribune.com.pk/story/586624/peace-in-afghanistan-islamabadwashington-seek-alternatives-to-doha-process/>.
- 146. Op.cit., (ref. 143).
- 147. Ibid.
- 148. Saba Imtiaz, "The Outcomes of the Taliban/Paris meeting on Afghanistan," Al-Jazeera Centre for Studies, 24 January 2013, <a href="http://studies.aljazeera.net/">http://studies.aljazeera.net/</a> en/reports/2013/01/2013124111354190395.htm>.
- 149. "How Taliban talks have become deadlocked in Doha," *BBC News*, 12 July 2013, <a href="http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-23274081">http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-23274081</a>>.
- 150. Meer Agha Nasrat Samimi, "Govt offers Taliban new office in Turkey or Saudi," *Pajhwok Afghan News*, 11 August 2013, <a href="http://www.pajhwok.com/en/2013/08/11/govt-offers-taliban-new-office-turkey-or-saudi">http://www.pajhwok.com/en/2013/08/11/govt-offers-taliban-new-office-turkey-or-saudi</a>.
- 151. Kathy Gannon, "Secret meetings keep Afghan peace talks alive but unmet promises, vows of revenge dampen hopes," *Fox News*, 10 January 2014,

<http://www.foxnews.com/world/2014/01/10/secret-meetings-keep-afghanpeace-talks-alive-but-unmet-promises-vows-revenge/>.

- 152. "Afghan Peace Team Seeks Dubai Meeting with Taliban Figures," Dawn, 17 February 2014, <a href="http://www.dawn.com/">http://www.dawn.com/</a> news/1087655/afghan-peace-teamseeks-dubai-meeting-with-taliban-figures>.
- Abdullhaq Omeri, "Dawoudzai Optimistic for Karzai's Trip to Pakistan," *Tolo News*, 21 August 2013, <a href="http://www.tolonews.com/">http://www.tolonews.com/</a> en/afghanistan/11638dawoudzai-optimistic-for-karzais-trip-to-pakistan>.
- 154. Gannon, op.cit., (ref.151).
- 155. Omeri, op.cit., (ref.153).
- 156. Yousuf, op.cit., (ref.145).
- 157. Zahra-Malik, op.cit., (ref. 121).
- 158. Borhan Osman, "Déjà Vu all over again: the Af-Pak roller coaster and a possible new Taliban office," *Afghanistan Analysis Network*, 25 August 2013, <http://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/deja-vu-all-over-again-the-af-pakrollercoaster-and-a-possible-new-taleban-office>.
- 159. Hussain, op.cit., (ref. 122).
- 160. David Francis, "The US has finally Outfoxed Hamid Karzai," *The Fiscal Times*,
  12 February 2014, <a href="http://finance.yahoo.com/news/u-finally-outfoxed-hamid-karzai-111500963.html">http://finance.yahoo.com/news/u-finally-outfoxed-hamid-karzai-111500963.html</a>>.
- 161. Ibid.
- 162. An Interview with Dr. Arshi Saleem Hashmi, Assistant Professor, Department of Peace and Conflict Studies, National Defence University (NDU), Islamabad.
- 163. An Interview with Rahimullah Yousufzai, Executive Editor *The News*, Peshawar, and an expert on Afghanistan and Tribal affairs.
- 164. Ibid.
- 165. Arshi Hashmi, op.cit., (ref. 162).
- 166. Yousufzai, op.cit., (ref. 163).

- 167. Jim Garamone, "Report Cites Afghan Security Forces Gains, Progress", US Department of Defense, American Forces Press Service, 30 July 2013, <a href="http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=120550">http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=120550</a>
- 168. Jim Garamone, "Report Points to Afghan Progress, Challenges", US Department of Defense, American Forces Press Service, 30 April 2014, <a href="http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=122151">http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=122151</a>
- 169. Ibid.
- 170. Jim Garamone, "Dempsey Calls Election 'Turning Point' for Afghan Forces", US Department of Defense, American Forces Press Service, 02 May 2014, <a href="http://www.defense.gov/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=122172">http://www.defense.gov/news/news/newsarticle.aspx?id=122172</a>>.